DAM MASS RATING, A GEOMECHANICS CLASSIFICATION, OF THE ROCK MASS OF DHAP DAM SITE, SHIVAPURI-NAGARJUN NATIONAL PARK, CENTRAL NEPAL

A Dissertation Submitted to the

CENTRAL DEPARTMENT OF GEOLOGY TRIBHUVAN UNIVERSITY Kirtipur, Kathmandu NEPAL

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Award of Degree of Master of Science in Engineering Geology

By

SUNIL MAN SINGH

Year of Submission: 2020 AD Exam Roll No.: E.G.E 72/073 TU Registration No.: 6-1-278-201-2003

©Tribhuvan University

CENTRAL DEPARTMENT OF GEOLOGY TRIBHUVAN UNIVERSITY Kirtipur, Kathmandu NEPAL

Date:

RECOMMENDATION

Under my supervision, this dissertation entitled "DAM MASS RATING, A GEOMECHANICS CLASSIFICATION, OF THE ROCK MASS OF DHAP DAM SITE, SHIVAPURI-NAGARJUN NATIONAL PARK, CENTRAL NEPAL" of Mr. Sunil Man Singh is approved for the examination and is submitted to Tribhuvan University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of M.Sc. Degree in Engineering Geology.

Associate Professor Dr. Naresh Kazi Tamrakar (Supervisor) Central Department of Geology Tribhuvan University

CENTRAL DEPARTMENT OF GEOLOGY TRIBHUVAN UNIVERSITY Kirtipur, Kathmandu NEPAL

Date:

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

On the recommendation of the Supervisor and Associate Professor Dr. Naresh Kazi Tamrakar this dissertation work of Mr. Sunil Man Singh is approved for the examination and is submitted to Tribhuvan University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of M.Sc. Degree in Engineering Geology.

.....

Professor Dr. Khum Narayan Paudayal Head of the Department Central Department of Geology Tribhuvan University

CENTRAL DEPARTMENT OF GEOLOGY TRIBHUVAN UNIVERSITY Kirtipur, Kathmandu NEPAL

The dissertation work of Mr. Sunil Man Singh entitled "DAM MASS RATING, A GEOMECHANICS CLASSIFICATION, OF THE ROCK MASS OF DHAP DAM SITE, SHIVAPURI-NAGARJUN NATIONAL PARK, CENTRAL NEPAL" was examined by the following board of examiners and was accepted for the partial fulfillment of the requirements of M.Sc. Degree in Engineering Geology.

BOARD OF THE EXAMINERS

.....

Associate Professor Dr. Naresh Kazi Tamrakar (Supervisor)

.....

(External Examiner)

.....

(Internal Examiner)

Approved by:

Recommended by:

Examined by:

Examined by:

.....

Professor Dr. Khum Narayan Paudayal (Head of the Department)

Date:

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

My sincerest gratitude is due to my Supervisor Mr. Naresh Kazi Tamrakar, the Associate Professor, Central Department of Geology, Tribhuvan University, in the absence of the inspiration, encouragement, guidance and insistence of whom this research would have remained an unfinished and abandoned construction.

I am also thankful to Mr. Lalu Paudel, the Professor and the former Head of the Department, Central Department of Geology, Tribhuvan University, during the term of whom this research was permitted and motivated with the prior supplement of necessary equipments, and to Mr. Khum Narayan Paudayal, the Professor and the Head of the Department, Central Department of Geology, Tribhuvan University, whose kindest support has always been a matter of highest appreciation. My humble gratitude is also due to Mr. Ranjan Kumar Dahal, the Associate Professor and the Coordinator of MSc. Engineering Geology Programme.

I am also overwhelmed by the unparallel support from Rupendra Maharjan, Aadesh Budhathoki, Bal Bahadur Tamang and Anjaan Tamang, the dearest classmates of mine, from Jaya Laxmi Singh who fueled me with the spark to initiate the research, from Sanjay Singh Maharjan and Nirjan Gothe, the colleagues of mine, and by the unsurpassable devotion from Shradha Shrestha in the lack of whose sudden but timely appearance the completion of this work would have stayed in dilemma.

I cannot help thinking of the affection from my parents and from my school teachers Mr. Surya Maharjan and Mr. Pawok Mani Upadhyaya that pulled me up as when I was low.

Sunil Man Singh February, 2020

ABSTRACT

Design and build of Dhap Dam has been proposed to impound the monsoon rain upstream the dam to allow the adequate flow in the Bagmati River during the dry seasons. The dam is proposed of 24 m height with top length of 172.7 m which is supposed to raise the water of existing Chisapani Lake to 850,000 m³. This research was carried out to identify the rock mass condition of the foundation footprint which the dam would rest upon. The geological and engineering geological investigations were based solely upon surface observation and were limited to the foundation footprint of 132 m × 90 m dimensions. Throughout the footprint the rock mass was banded gneiss of Sheopuri Formation, an extension of Higher Himalayan Crystallines, varying from Fresh to Residual grade of weathering. Two systems of rock mass classification were adopted: RMR and DMR. The RMR placed the rock mass of the study into Poor rock to Good rock and into Fair rock to Good rock at the left and at the right respectively from the streamflow, whereas the DMR classed five of the observation points into 'Concern' category with respect to the Degree of Safety of the dam against sliding demanding engineering remedy.

Keywords - Bagmati, Dhap, RMR, DMR, foundation, dam

Table of Contents

СНАРТ	TER I INTRODUCTION 1
1.1.	Background1
1.2.	Location
1.2	.1. Geographical Setting
1.2	.2. Geological Setting 4
1.3.	Accessibility
1.4.	Topography and Drainage
1.5.	Climate 6
1.6.	Objectives
1.7.	Justification of the Study7
1.8.	Limitation
СНАРТ	TER II LITERATURE REVIEW 9
2.1.	On Setting of the Study Area9
2.2.	On The Higher Himalayan Zone9
2.3.	On the Lesser Himalaya10
2.4.	On Kathmandu Crystalline Nappe10
2.5.	On Gosainkund Crystalline Nappe11
2.6.	On Rock Mass Rating (RMR)11
2.7.	On Dam Mass Rating (DMR)13

2.8. On Weathering
2.9. On More14
CHAPTER III METHODOLOGY
3.1. Desk Work15
3.2. Field Work15
3.2.1. Mapping16
3.2.1. Engineering Geological Investigation17
3.3. Data Processing24
CHAPTER IV RESULTS
4.1. Topography, Lithology and Structure
4.2. Weathering Grade27
4.3. The RMR
4.4. The DMR
CHAPTER V DISCUSSION
CHAPTER VI CONCLUSION
REFERENCES

List of Tables

Table 1.	Salient Features of Dhap Dam
Table 2.	Reference descriptions for the weathering classes
Table 3.	Rock Mass Rating System19
Table 4.	Field estimates of uniaxial compressive strength of intact rock20
Table 5.	RMR value vs Class and Description of rock mass
Table 6.	Rating of the adjusting factors for the dam stability, R _{STA} according to joints orientation
Table 7.	Correlation between DMR _{STA} and Degree of Safety23
Table 8.	Tentative guidelines for dam foundation excavation and consolidation grouting
Table 9.	Location of observation points27
Table 10.	Calculation for RMR, summarized42
Table 11.	Calculation for RMR _{BD} 45
Table 12.	Calculation for R _{STA} 46
Table 13.	Calculation for CF46
Table 14.	Calculation for DMR47
Table 15.	Calculation for JvI
Table 16.	Calculation for apparent dipI
Table 17.	Location of observation pointsII
Table 18.	Attitude of foliationsII

Table 19.	Measurement of random joint sets III
Table 20.	RMR, L1 IV
Table 21.	RMR, L2V
Table 22.	RMR, L3 VI
Table 23.	RMR, L4
Table 24.	RMR, L5VIII
Table 25.	RMR, L6 IX
Table 26.	RMR, L8X
Table 27.	RMR, L10XI
Table 28.	RMR, L13XII
Table 29.	RMR, L14XIII

List of Figures

Figure 1.	Location map of the study area	3
Figure 2.	Study area in topographic map	4
Figure 3.	Study area in the geological map of central Nepal	5
Figure 4.	Methodology used during research	25
Figure 5.	Engineering geological map of the study area	29
Figure 6.	Structural map of the study area	30
Figure 7.	Cross section along the upstream traverse line	31
Figure 8.	Cross section along the dam axis traverse line	32
Figure 9.	Cross section along the downstream traverse line	33
Figure 10.	Contour plot of joint sets at L1	36
Figure 11.	Contour plot of joint sets at L2	37
Figure 12.	Contour plot of joint sets at L3	37
Figure 13.	Contour plot of joint sets at L4	38
Figure 14.	Contour plot of joint sets at L5	38
Figure 15.	Contour plot of joint sets at L6	39
Figure 16.	Contour plot of joint sets at L8	39
Figure 17.	Contour plot of joint sets at L10	40
Figure 18.	Contour plot of joint sets at L13	40
Figure 19.	Contour plot of joint sets at L14	41
Figure 20.	RMR vs DMR of the study area	48

List of Photographs

Plate 1: Microfold of gneiss band in a boulder	14
Plate 2: Downstream section of the study area, from the right bank	14
Plate 3: Upstream section of the study area, from the right bank	14
Plate 4: Top of the left abutment of the dam axis	14
Plate 5: Fresh gneiss, at the left bank, dam axis	15
Plate 6: Top of the right abutment, across (top left hilltop)	15
Plate 7: Left section of the study area, from the right abutment	XV
Plate 8: Rock boulders for the embankment construction	XVI

List of Annex	
APPENDIX I TABLES	I
APPENDIX II PLATES	XIV

ABBREVIATIONS

- BGC Basic Geotechnical Classification
- BRBIP Bagmati River Basin Improvement Project
- CDG Central Department of Geology CF Correction Factor
- CFRD Concrete Face Rockfill Dam
- DMG Department of Mines and Geology
- DMR Dam Mass Rating
- DMRsTA Dam Mass Rating for dam Stability
- GCN Gosainkund Crystalline Nappe
- GERD Great Ethiopian Renaissance Dam
- GSI Geological Strength Index
- HHC Higher Himalayan Crystallines
- KCN Kathmandu Crystalline Nappe
- LH Lesser Himalaya
- MCT Main Central Thrust
- MT Mahabharat Thrust
- NATM New Austrian Tunneling Method
- pH potentiality of Hydrogen
- RMI Rock Mass Index
- RMR Rock Mass Rating
- RMR_B Basic Rock Mass Rating
- RMR_{BD} Basic Dry Rock Mass Rating
- RQD Rock Quality Designation
- RSR Rock Structure Rating
- RSTA Rating of adjusting factor for dam Stability
- STDS South Tibetan Detachment Systems
- UCS Unconfined Compressive Strength

CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION

1.1. Background

Following is a research carried out to classify the rock mass of the foundation footprint of Dhap dam, Chisapani, Shivapuri-Nagarjun National Park, in order to identify safety of the dam against sliding regarding the outcrop scenario of the footprint and then to propose an engineering remedy in case the identification is found to be alarming.

A dam is desired to impound water for any of several reasons: flood control, water supply for human or livestock, irrigation, energy generation, recreation, or pollution control. Moreover, a dam must retain water, have enough safety against sliding and adjust itself to the terrain deformations without too much cracking in service (Romana, 2003b). And there are various types of dam.

Dhap dam is a proposed Concrete Faced Rock Fill Dam (CFRD) which is aimed to impound the stream flow upstream and raise the existing Chisapani Lake to store 850,000 m³ of water. It is aimed to collect the monsoon rain and discharge the outflow to maintain adequate flow in the Bagmati River during dry seasons (BRBIP, 2013). Table 1 gives the salient features of Dhap Dam.

However, because the purpose of a dam is to retain water effectively and safely, its water retention ability is of prime importance. "Guidelines for Operation and Maintenance of Dams in Texas" stresses that water may pass from the reservoir to the downstream side of a dam by:

- 1. Seeping through the dam
- 2. Seeping through the abutment
- 3. Seeping under the dam
- 4. Overtopping the dam
- 5. Passing through the outlet works
- 6. Passing through or over a service (primary) spillway
- 7. Passing over an emergency spillway.

Of the mentioned seven discharge modes of water from upstream - dam - downstream, seeping under the dam is a prime factor to invite the sliding of the dam which in turn causes the dam failure, to mar the downstream life and property with complete annihilation. To identify this sliding chances of the dam, if there is any, is the prime impetus of this research.

Item	Description
Dam type	Concrete Face Rockfill dam
Dam height (D/S toe to crest)	24.00 m
Dam top Length	172.7 m
Dam crest elevation	2090.14 m asl
Upstream slope inclination	1V: 1.7H
Downstream slope inclination	1V: 1.7H
Crest width	8 m
Concrete face thickness	300 mm
Dam volume	53000 m3 (Tentative)
Normal Water Level (NWL)	2087.14 m asl
Freeboard (measured from the dam crest)	3 m

Table 1.Salient Features of Dhap Dam (Main Dam Design Report, revision 3, 2018)

1.2. Location

1.2.1. Geographical Setting

The intersection of the longitudes 27°48'36"N to 27°48'50"N with the latitudes 85°27'18"E to 85°27'30"E at approximately 2090 m above sea level situates the study area of Dhap dam foundation footprint. The area is placed on almost the top of Shivapuri Hill in Shivapuri – Nagarjun National Park, Sundarijal at the North East border of Kathmandu, adjoined with Sindhupalchok to the East and with Nuwakot to the Northwest North region of the dam site. The dam site is 3 km southward and downward from a famous tourist retreat – Chisapani Bazar. The study area is about 350 m downstream of existing 3.5 m low dam constructed by Shivapuri-Nagarjun National Park some 27 years ago for the wildlife therein (Figures 1, 2, 3).



Figure 1. Location map of the study area.



Figure 2. Study area in topographic map (sheet no. 2785 02D, Sundarijal)

1.2.2. Geological Setting

Based on the "Engineering and Environmental Geological map of the Kathmandu Valley", scaled to 1:50,000, published by the DMG, the geology of the Dhap Dam falls within the Sheopuri Gneiss Formation of Precambrian rocks. Regional geologically the dam site is located within strongly metamorphosed basement rocks of the Higher Himalayan Tectonic Zone. Physiographically, the region lies within the Fore Himalayan Geomorphic Unit. The main rock type in the dam construction site is gneiss. Tectonically, the zone is very active and is uplifting at a high rate due to the collision of the Indian and Eurasian tectonic plates owing to the development of major thrust faults. The major tectonic feature Main Central Thrust (MCT) lies north to the dam site about 5 km at about Patibhanjyang saddle. It is a part of an active seismic zone as in the other part of the Himalayan seismicity. The impacts of the 2015 Earthquake in Chisapani and adjoining areas is an example of the high seismicity in the region (Ghimire, 2018).



Figure 3. Study area in the geological map of central Nepal (modified after Rai, 2001)

Moreover, the amphibolite to granulite facies rocks of the Gosainkund Crystalline Nappe in the Gosainkund – Sheopuri region correspond to the rocks of the Higher Himalayan Crystalline (Rai, 2003).

1.3. Accessibility

The study area can be accessed through three roadways:

First there is an existing village road from Sundarijal via Mulkharka, Jhule, Bhanjyang and Dhap. The road is narrow though, only suitable to small vehicles.

Next there is the project road, which is the developed National Park – road through the forest that goes Sundarijal – Mulkharka – Jhule – Bhanjyang – Dhap, about 18 km.

And there is a road from Sankhu–Bajrayoginee–Ghumarichok–Manichood– Jhule– Bhanjyang to Dhap, about 23 km.

1.4. Topography and Drainage

The topography of the site is relatively rolling around small lake (the existing Chisapani Lake) which is surrounded by small hilltops reaching upto 2090 m asl, covered by slightly dense forest. There are about four valley streams contributing to the reservoir. The outflows of the existing lake serve as the headwaters of the Nagmati River, which then confluences to the Bagmati River. The dam site lies immediately downstream of the open grassy, swampy wetland within a hilltop valley surrounded by low forest covered hills. Immediately to the northeast of the catchment boundary and beyond the existing access road, the land falls away very steeply into the deep valley of the Sindhu Khola watershed towards NE and to Nuwakot in the NW.

1.5. Climate

The study area experiences warm temperate climate. The temperature ranges from 3°C in January to 30°C in June. Rainfall is caused mainly due to the Monsoon coming from the Bay of Bengal. The monsoon season falls during mid-July to mid-September. The maximum mean monthly rainfall of 607.4 mm has been observed in the month of July and the minimum mean monthly rainfall of 7.2 mm in December

has been observed, based on 1994 – 2010 period, recorded at the confluence of Bagmati and Nagmati by Department of Hydrology and Meteorology. For Dhap, estimated catchment mean annual rainfall is 3,000 mm approximately. The study area also observes occasional snowfall in the month of January-February.

1.6. Objectives

- i. To prepare Engineering Geological Map of Dhap dam foundation
- ii. To prepare Structural Map of Dhap dam foundation
- iii. To place the rock mass of the Dhap dam foundation into geomechanics classification system
- iv. To check and propose an engineering remedy to the chances of the sliding of dam, if any

1.7. Justification of the Study

The study area lies in tectonically active zone, for the fact that MCT passes at about Patibhanjyang just 5 km northward. The impact of the thrust is also clear from the 2015 Earthquake. The Rock Mass Rating (RMR) system of Geomechanics Classification alone may not be enough to classify the rock mass therein because it takes into consideration no account of the impact of discontinuity orientation with respect to the dam axis. Therefore, this research tries to do the rock mass classification of the dam foundation footprint through Dam Mass Rating, a new geomechanics classification adapted from RMR, to check the chances of dam sliding influenced by discontinuity orientation and to give an engineering solution in case the chances are identified.

1.8. Limitation

- i. The "Giraffe" technique (Rinaldi et al., ?), a digital close range photogrammetric approach could speed up and improve the quality of collected data for mapping but the research was limited to mobile photography, Brunton compass, metric tape, hammer and hand lens.
- ii. Unconfined Compressive Strength (UCS) of the intact rock was determined insitu using empirical field test and available tables, rather than the standard instruments.

- iii. Weathering grade of rock mass was determined in-situ via empirical field test and available tables.
- iv. To reduce time, effort and risk areas with steep cut slopes, and thickvegetation were discarded.
- v. The narrow time squeezed between foundation clearance and construction work which was all demanding and its overlapping with the institutional academic time saved very few favorable time.

CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEW

Literature relevant, recent and reliable have been studied to tarnish the knowledge on the research theme. Published and unpublished journal, articles, papers, books, abstracts, maps, have been reviewed.

2.1. On Setting of the Study Area

"Engineering and Environmental Geological map of the Kathmandu Valley", in scale 1:50000, published by the Department of Mines and Geology (DMG), places the geology of the Dhap dam site within Sheopuri Gneiss Formation of Precambrian rocks, within strongly metamorphosed basement rocks of the Higher Himalayan Tectonic Zone.

Rai (2003) corresponds the amphibolites to granulite facies rocks of the Gosainkund Crystalline Nappe in the Gosainkund-Sheopuri region to the rocks of the Higher Himalayan Crystallines which thrust over the greenschist–lower amphibolites facies rocks of the Lesser Himalaya (LH) along the Main Central Thrust (MCT).

The greenschist-to granulite-facies rocks in the Kathmandu and Gosainkund regions are divided into three tectonic units on the basis of structure, lithology and metamorphism. The Gosainkund Crystalline Nappe (GCN) corresponds to the southward extension of the Higher Himalayan Crystallines (HHC), which thrusts over the Kathmandu Crystalline Nappe (KCN) along the main Central Thrust (MCT). The GCN an KCN thrust over the Lesser Himalaya (LH) along the MCT and the Mahabharat Thrust (MT), respectively (Rai et. al., 2004)

2.2. On The Higher Himalayan Zone

The Higher Himalaya extends from Main Central Thrust (MCT) to the Tibetan– Tethys Zone and runs throughout the country. This zone mainly consists of almost 10 km thick succession of crystalline rocks. Accroding to Bordet et al. (1972), this sequence can be divided into four main units: Kyanite–Silimanite gneisses, Pyroxene–Marble gneisses, Banded gneisses and Augen gneisses. The Higher Himalayan Crystallines (HHC) are mainly composed of Kyanite – Silimanite grade gneisses intruded by High Himalayan Leucogranites as structurally higher levels (Upreti, 1999). Throughout much of the range, the unit is divided into three formations (Pecher and Le Fort, 1986). In Central Nepal, the Upper Formation III consists of augen orthogneiss, whereas the. Middle Formation II is calcsilicate gneisses and marble, and the Basal Formation I is Kyanite–and–Silimanite bearing metapelites, gneisses and metagraywacke with abundant quartzites.

The northern part is marked by South Tibetan Detachment System (STDS). The protolith of the Higher Himalayan Crystalline is interpreted to be late Proterozoic clastic sedimentary rocks deposited on the northern Indian margin (Parrish and Hodge, 1996).

2.3. On the Lesser Himalaya

In central Nepal, the LH is divided into two groups: the Lower Lesser Himalaya and the Upper Lesser Himalaya (Le Fort, 1975; Pecher, 1978; CoIchen et al., 1980, 1986) or the Lower Nawakot Group and the Upper Nawakot Group (Stocklin and Bhattarai, 1977; Stocklin, 1980). This unit is composed of late Precambrian to Paleozoic? sedimentary and metasedimentary rocks such as limestone, dolomite, gritstone, conglomerate, slate, phyllite, schist, metasandstone, quartzite, augen gneiss (Ulleri augen gneiss) and amphibolite. These rocks are exposed around the Kathmandu valley (Rai, 2001). The upper section of the Upper Lesser Himalaya along the Mailung Khola in the vicinity of the MCT has undergone strong deformation, and metamorphosed to amphibolite facies producing garnet and/or kyanite related to the movement along the MCT (Le Fort, 1975, Pecher, 1978, 1989), while only greenschist facies rocks can be observed at the proximity of the MT (Rai, 2001).

2.4. On Kathmandu Crystalline Nappe

This nappe is composed of the rocks of the Kathmandu Complex, Which is divided into the Bhimphedi and the PhuIchauki groups (Stocklin and Bhattarai, 1977; Stocklin, 1980). The Bhimphedi Group is the lower unit and is composed of amphibolite-facies rocks (phyllite, schist, metasandstone, quartzite, and marble of Precambrian age). The metamorphic rocks of the Bhimphedi Group gradually pass upward to a low-grade to non-metamorphosed fossiliferous Lower Paleozoic sequence of Tethyan affinity belonging to the Phulchauki Group which is composed of limestone, slate, metasandstone, phyllite, calc-phyllite and marble. The rocks of the Kathmandu Complex are also intruded by several Cambro-Ordovician peraluminous granitic plutons (Le Fort et al., 1981, 1983; Scharer and Allegre, 1983) in the south, the east and the west of the Kathmandu Valley. Small augen gneiss bodies of granitic origin are found in the Bhimphedi Group exposed along the Mahesh Khola, Malekhu Khola, Belkhu Khola and the Bagmati River. Along Malekhu Khola incipient development of kyanite in this gneiss is also observed. A 15 km long E-W running narrow pegmatite body named the Nardanda Pegmatite is exposed at the northern edge of the Kathmandu Valley. It has a maximum exposed thickness of 300 m at the middle part (Rai, 2001).

2.5. On Gosainkund Crystalline Nappe

The Gosainkund Crystalline Nappe (GCN) lies to the north of the Kathmandu Valley and consists of the amphibolite to granulite-facies rocks. The nappe reaches to the northern edge of the Kathmandu Valley, and extends upto Nagarkot in the east and to Galchi in the west (Rai, 2001). The high-grade metamorphic rocks of the GCN include varieties of paragneiss and orthogneiss (augen gneiss, granitic gneiss), micaschist, migmatite, calc-silicate gneiss, marble and quartzite. The gneisses exposed along the higher part of the Sheopuri Range such as at Thakle, SW of Melamchi Bazaar and in the Gosainkund Range contain abundant sillimanite (Rai 1998). The lower sections of the GCN exposed along the Likhu Khola and Tadi Khola lying to the north of the Sheopuri Range contain kyanite-garnet bearing rocks, whereas sillimanite occurs at a higher section on both sides of these rivers.

2.6. On Rock Mass Rating (RMR)

Palmstrom (2000) tabulates rock mass classification systems as Terzaghi Rock Load Classification, Lauffer's stand up Time Classification, New Austrian Tunneling Method (NATM), Rock Classification for Rock Mechanical Purposes, Unified Classification of Soils and Rocks, Rock Quality Designation (RQD), Size-Strength Classification, Rock Structure Rating (RSR), Rock Mass Rating (RMR), Q – Classification System, Unified Rock Classification System, Basic Geotechnical Classification (BGC), Geological Strength Index (GSI), and Rock Mass Index (RMI).

Rock Mass Rating (RMR), also known as Geomechanics Classification System, was originally proposed by Bieniawaki in 1973 for use in tunnels, slopes and foundation. However, it has gone several evolutions through the years 1974, 1975, 1976 and 1989, amending the rating assigned to different parameters, namely, Unconfined (uniaxial) Compressive Strength (UCS), Rock Quality Designation (RQD), Spacing of Discontinuities, Condition of Discontinuities, Groundwater Condition and Orientation of Discontinuities (for tunnels).

The UCS can be indirectly evaluated by means of Point Load Test and by correlations with the Schmidt Hammer Rebound Value, or directly by unconfined compression test. However, when laboratory tests are not possible Hoek and Brown (1997) has given a table for the estimated value of UCS, which further has been in modified form in Marinos and Hoek (2000). On deciding the value of UCS for foliated rocks Hoek and Broun (1997) suggests that the maximum value should be used for hard, well interlocked rocks masses such as good quality slates and the lowest value for tectonically disturbed, poor quality rock masses such as the graphitic phyllite.

The RQD was initially proposed by Deere (1963), and it has since then been the topic of various assessments (Deere et al., 1967, Deere and Deere, 1988; Deere, 1989), mainly for civil engineering projects. Its application has also been quickly extended to other areas of rock mechanics, and it has become a fundamental parameter in geotechnical engineering (Hoek & Brown, 1980; Hoek and Bray, 1981). Many researchers have done studies on this relationship: Palmstrom, 2005; Choi and Park, 2004; Zhang et al., 2012. However, Pells et al. (2017) warns, as RQD is a rating in RMR, that $\pm 30\%$ error in RQD results typically in <6% error in RMR, and hence only in extreme cases with high water pressures, unfavourable joint orientations, and a 30% underestimate of an already low RQD does the error reach about 20%.

Joint set spacing is the distance between individual joints within a joint set. Palmstrom (2001) distincts joint spacing from average joint spacing stressing that the reciprocal of latter is the sum of the reciprocals of each joint set spacing.

Palmstrom (2001) stresses that the knowledge of the type of the frequency of the joints and fissures are often more important than the types of rocks involved, as the

engineering properties of a rock mass depend often far more on the system of geological defects within the rock mass than of the strength of the rock itself. The condition of discontinuity is hence significant.

Hoek et al., (2000) refers the presence of groundwater in a rock slope as a critical factor in any assessment of the stability of that slope. Water pressure, acting within discontinuities in the rock mass, reduces effective stresses with a consequent reduction of shear strength.

Hoek and Brown (1997) states that for very poor quality rock masses the value of RMR is very difficult to estimate and the balance between the ratings no longer gives a reliable basis for estimating rock mass strength.

2.7. On Dam Mass Rating (DMR)

Romana (2003, a & b) reviews the difficulties in RMR use for dam foundations deriving from several points: consideration of water pressure is very doubtful (the pore pressure ratio varies along the dam foundation, dams must operate with changing water levels), there is no good rules for quantifying the adjusting factor for the joint orientation (which must allow for the safety against total failure by horizontal shear, for local failure, for water leakage through the joints ...), there are changes in properties of both the rock and the joints induced by watering changes (saturation, desiccation, flow along the joints ...). Thus, proposed has been a new Geomechanics classification system – DMR (Dam Mass Rating), as an adaptation of RMR, giving guidelines for several practical aspects in dam engineering and in appraisal of dam foundation.

2.8. On Weathering

Selby (1993) described weathering as 'the process of alteration and breakdown of soil and rock materials at and near the Earth's surface by physical, chemical and biotic processes'.

Esaki and Jiang (1999) stress that the ultimate effect of physical weathering is reflected in increase of porosity, and that the degree of chemical weathering increases the water in the internal structure of minerals, (H_2O^+) .

Weathering intensity in rocks results in mineralogical modification of the primary minerals and strong structural and textural changes in the rock fabric, as fractures in both intercrystalline boundaries and intercrystalline contacts (Borrelli et al., 2014; Criteli et al., 1991; Le Pera et al., 2001; Regmi et al., 2014, Scarciglia et al., 2007)

2.9. On More

Moreover, papers related to dams using RMR and/or DMR have been reviewed: Kangir Dam site (Shaflei & Dusseault, 2008), Shah-wa-Arus Dam site (Zaryab et al., 2015), Anamur Dam site (Ozsan & Karpuz, 1996), Urus Dam (Ozsan & Akin, 2002), Axum Dam site (Leulalem et al., 2016), Sulakyurt Dam site (Basarir, 2006) and Obudu Dam site (Esn et al., 1996). Fraser (2001) gives a guideline to "excavate the dam foundation to slightly weathered granitic rock".

Rinaldi et al. (?) uses "Giraffe" technique for dam foundation mapping in the Great Ethiopian Renaissance Dam Project, GERD Project.

Further, topo sheet No. 2785 02D, google earth maps have been reviewed.

CHAPTER III METHODOLOGY

The research was carried out in four stages, viz., Desk Work, Field Work, Data Processing, and Report Writing and Submission (Figure 4).

3.1. Desk Work

Conducted in three phases, the Phase I of desk work was Literature Review and Office Studies, during which review of un/published literatures, textbooks, papers, abstracts, journals, reports, maps etc. was done. This Phase also included the selection of necessary materials and equipments. Data Processing, and Report Writing and Submission were the other two sequential Phases of Desk Work, which succeeded the Field Work.

3.2. Field Work

Field work, that succeeded the phase I of desk work, advanced from preliminary field investigation to detail field investigation. It passed through delineation of the study area, the main dam foundation footprint $(132 \text{ m} \times 90 \text{ m})$, to geological investigation for lithological and structural measurement, to engineering geological investigation for the computation of the RMR and the DMR where the measurements of the insitu rock strength, weathering grade, discontinuity attitudes and condition, and groundwater condition were noted in the field notebook. The topographic sheet no. 2785 02D, Sundarijal in 1:25000 scale, produced by the Survey Department, Government of Nepal, 2003 reprint, was used for the research. Following were the other tools and instruments used in field work:

- Brunton compass for the measurement of attitude of rock surface, discontinuities and bearing of the traverse lines
- A 50 m long metric tape
- A 5 m long power tape
- Geological hammer with an end blade

- Bi-powered (10x and 20x) hand lens to observe mineral grains and their arrangement
- Sampling bags to collect rock and soil samples
- Mobile phone GPS for accurate positioning of the location of observation points
- Field notebook to record the description and sketch of features and materials observed in the field
- Mobile phone camera to snap pictures
- A 30 cm scale, a circular protractor, pencil, sharpener, eraser and A1 size graph papers
- Field work was classified into two: Mapping and Engineering Geological Investigation.

3.2.1. Mapping

First, demarcation of the study area was carried out. The axis line of the main dam was retrieved from the surveyor which oriented N45°W – S45°E. The coordinates and the altitude of the left end of the dam axis was also retrieved from the surveyor and so was done for the right end and the midpoint of the axis. Hence, the first traverse line i.e. the Dam axis line of 132 m was sketched. Next, from the left end point of the axis line, another line going perpendicular to the axis line, i.e. with the bearing of N45°E – S45°W going from the point to 45 m upstream and to 45 m downstream was sketched which gave the 90 m width of the dam at the left bank. Then, from the upstream left end another traverse line going N45°W – S45°E, parallel to dam axis line, across stream channel, which also extended 132 m in length, was sketched. Similar process was repeated from the left end downstream of dam axis to find the third traverse line. Hence, three traverse lines were determined: the axis line, the upstream boundary line and the downstream boundary line. The coordinates and the altitudes of the ends and the mid-point of the upstream and downstream boundary lines were also retrieved from the surveyor. Therefore, the study area (132 m \times 90 m) was delineated.

Second, the mapping was done in a A1 size graph paper. The traverse was taken on 3 traverse lines. During the traverse, a 50 m metric tape was stretched along a traverse line to measure the distance until the topography changed, the slope angle was measured with the help of Brunton compass and the slant height with metric tape, and the profile line was derived. Similar process was repeated for the other two traverse lines. During the traverse, also measured were the weathering grade (table 2), in situ strength, discontinuity condition and spacing, and ground water condition. Twenty location points were marked for the observation. And hence prepared was the engineering geological map in 1:50 scale.

3.2.1. Engineering Geological Investigation

The prime focus of the research was the rock mass classification of the study area, Dam Mass Rating in particular. To meet the objective, hence were applied Rock Mass Rating (RMR-Bieniawski, 1989) and Dam Mass Rating (DMR-Romana, 2003b). Quantitative description of discontinuities including orientation, spacing, persistence, roughness, aperture and filling were determined in-situ by exposure logging in accordance to ISRM standards (1978).

3.2.1.1. Rock Mass Rating (RMR)

RMR was done in accordance with Bieniawski (1989) (Table 3). The first five parameters were measured and rated to sum them into RMR value of the observed points.

Table 2.Reference descriptions for the weathering classes (modified from Borrelli et al., in press).

CLASS	ROCK MASS	ROCK MATERIAL
I - Fresh	Behaves as rock.	Rock unchanged from original state or only slightly stained along major joints.
II – Slightly weathered	The rock mass is slightly weathered (more than 70% of the outcrop); limited and isolated rock mass volumes, near the discontinuities, can be constituted by moderately weathered rock.	The rock material has mainly the following characteristics: same colour of the fresh rock (Class I) with discolouration only near the discontinuities; original texture and microstructure of the fresh rock are perfectly preserved; strength is comparable to that of the fresh rock (hard rock); make a ringing sound when it is struck by hammer. N _{Schmiet} value more than 50.
III - Moderately weathered	The rock mass is moderately weathered (more than 70% of the outcrop); limited and isolated rock mass volumes can be constituted by highly or slightly weathered rock.	The rock material has mainly the following characteristics: pervasively discoloured, but locally the colour of the fresh rock can be present; original texture and microstructure of the fresh rock are well preserved; strength is comparable to that of the fresh rock (hard rock); make an intermediate sound when it is struck by hammer; large pieces are hardly broken if it is struck by head of hammer; point of geological hammer can produce a scratch on the surface of rock. N _{Schmidt} value: 25-50.
IV - Highly weathered	The rock mass is highly weathered (more than 70% of the outcrop); limited and isolated rock mass volumes can be constituted by moderately or completely weathered rock.	The rock material has mainly the following characteristics: completely discoloured; original texture and microstructure of the fresh rock are still preserved; strength is substantially reduced (weak rock); make an intermediate dull sound when it is struck by hammer; large pieces are easily broken if they are struck by hammer; large pieces do not slake in water; point of geological hammer indents the rock superficially; knife edge produces a scratch on the surface of rock. N _{Schmidt} value: 10-25.
V - Completely weathered	The rock mass is completely weathered (saprolite) (more than 70% of the outcrop); limited and isolated rock mass volumes can be constituted by highly weathered rock or residual soil.	The rock material has mainly the following characteristics: completely discoloured; original texture and microstructure of the fresh rock are present in relict form; soil like behaviour; large pieces can be broken by hand or crumbled by finger pressure into constituent grains and slake in water ; point of geological pick indents the rock deeply; knife edge easily carves the surface of rock; gravel and sand fractions are prevalent. N _{Schmiet} value: 0-15
VI – Residual and colluvial soil	The rock mass mainly consists of residual, colluvial and detritical-colluvial soils (more than 70% of the outcrop); limited and isolated portions can be constituted by moderately or highly weathered rock and/or saprolitic soil.	The rock material has mainly the following characteristics: completely discoloured; original texture and microstructure of the fresh rock are completely destroyed; soil like behaviour; large pieces can be easily broken by hand and crumbled by finger pressure into constituent grains. The volumes constituted of residual soils, rarely in outcrop and usually located on crowns, present the sand and silts fractions prevalent. The volumes constituted of colluvial soils, usually located on slope and into morphological hollows, are formed by sandy-silty chaotic deposits, including moderately to highly weathered centimetric rock fragments and subordinately organic fragments. The volumes constituted of detrital-colluvial soils, located on the lower portions of slopes, are represented by disorganized structure deposits, formed by sand and gravel including moderately to highly weathered decimetric rock fragments and subordinately organic fragments.

A. (A. CLASSIFICATION PARAMETERS AND THEIR RATINGS												
	Parameter Range of values												
	Strength of Point-load		Point-load strength index	>10 MPa	4 - 10 MP	a	2 - 4 MPa	1 -	- 2 MPa	For thi uniaxial test i	s low ra compi s prefei	inge - ressive rred	
1	intact r materi	ock ial	Uniaxial comp. strength	>250 MPa	100 - 250 M	IPa	50 - 100 MPa	25 -	- 50 MPa	5 - 25 MPa	1 - 5 MPa	< 1 MPa	
		Ra	ting	15	12		7		4	2	1	0	
		R	QD	90% - 100%	75% - 90%	6	50% - 75%	259	% - 50%	<	25%		
2		Ra	ting	20	17		13		8	3			
	9 2	Spac	ing of	> 2 m	0.6 - 2 . m	1	200 - 600 mm	60 -	200 mm	< 60 mm		1	
3		Ra	ting	20	15		10		8		5		
Condition of discontinuities (See E)		Very rough surfaces Not continuous No separation Unweathered wall rock	Slightly rough sun Separation < 1 n Slightly weathered	rfaces mm walls	Slightly rough surfaces Separation < 1 mm Highly weathered walls	Slickens Gouge < Separ Co	sided surfaces or 5 mm thick or ation 1-5 mm ontinuous	Soft goug or Sepa Co	Soft gouge >5 mm thick or Separation > 5 mm Continuous				
4		Ra	ting	30	25		20		10		0		
		Infl tu	low per 10 m nnel length (l/m)	None	< 10		10 - 25	2:	5 - 125	>	> 125		
E	Ground water	() pre pi	loint water ess)/ (Major rincipal □)	0	< 0.1		0.1, - 0.2	0.	.2 - 0.5	:	> 0.5		
5		c	General conditions	Completely dry	Damp		Wet	D	ripping	Fl	Flowing		
		Ra	ting	15	10		7		4		0		
B. 1	RATINO	G AI	DJUSTMEN	T FOR DISCONT	INUITY ORI	ENT	ATIONS (See F)						
St	rike and	l dip	orientations	Very favourable	Favourabl	e	Fair	Unfa	avourable		Very		
		1	unnels &	0	-2		-5		-10		-12		
R	atings F		Sundations	0	-2		-/		-15	-25			
\mathbf{C}	POCK	МАА	Slopes	U S DETEDMINED	-J EPOM TOT	AT D			-30				
U. 1		Rati	10	100 - 81	80-61		60 - 41	4	40 - 21	r –	< 21		
Class number		I	II		III		IV		V				
Description Very good rock			Good rock	k	Fair rock	Po	or rock	Verv	poori	rock			
D. 1	MEANI	ING	OF ROCK	CLASSES	I						1		
	Clas	ss nu	mber	Ι	II		III		IV		V		
Ā	Average	stan	id-up time	20 yrs for 15 m	1 year for 10	0 m	1 week for 5 m	10 hrs	s for 2.5 m	30 min for 1 m		1 m	
Co	hesion o	f roc	k mass (kPa)	> 400	300 - 400)	200 - 300	10	0 - 200	<	< 100		
Fı	iction ar	ngle ((deg	of rock mass	> 45	35 - 45		25 - 35	1	5 - 25		< 15		
Е. (GUIDE	LIN	ES FOR CL	ASSIFICATION	OF DISCONT	rinu	ITY conditions	-		-			
	Discont (persist	tinui ence	ty length e) Rating	< 1 m 6	1 - 3 m 4		3 - 10 m 2	10) - 20 m 1	>	20 m 0		
	Separati I	ion (Ratir	aperture)	None 6	< 0.1 mm	l	0.1 - 1.0 mm 4	1	- 5 mm 1	>	5 mm	L	
	Roughness Rating Very rough 6 Rough 5 Slightly rough 3 Smooth 1 Slichter		Slickensided 0		ed 0								
Infilling (gouge) Rating None 6		None 6	Hard filling < 5 mm 4		Hard filling > 5 mm 2	Soft filling < 5 mm 2		Soft filling > 5 mm 0		mm 0			
	Weathe	ering	Ratings	Unweathered 6	Slightly weather	red 5	weathered 3	Highly	weathered 1	Deco	mpose	d 0	
F. I	EFFEC'	ΓO	DISCONT	INUITY STRIKE	AND DIP OF	RIEN	TATION IN TUN	NELL	ING**				
		St	rike perpend	icular to tunnel axi	S		Strike _I	parallel	to tunnel as	xis			
Drive with dip - Dip 45 – 90° Drive with dip - D				- Dip 20 - 45°		Dip 45 - 90 °		Di	ip 20 - 4:	5°			
-	Ver	y fav	ourable	Favour	able		Very unfavourable	T		Fair			
	rive again	ist dij	p - D1p 45-90 °	Drive against dip	- Dip 20-45 °		D1p 0-20	- Irresp	ective of stril	ĸe⊔			
1		га	.11	Uniavol	irable	1		га	111				

 Table 3.
 Rock Mass Rating System (after Bieniawski, 1989)

* Some conditions are mutually exclusive. For example, if infilling is present, the roughness of the surface will be overshadowed by the influence of the gouge. In such cases use A.4 directly.

** Modified after Wickham et al (1972).

(a) Unconfined Compressive Strength (UCS), R1

The UCS value of rock mass was recorded in accord of the estimates from empirical field tests using standard geological hammer of about 1 kg and Table 4.

Grade*	Term	Uniaxial Comp. Strength (MPa)	Point Load Index (MPa)	Field estimate of strength	Examples
R6	Extremely Strong	> 250	>10	Specimen can only be chipped with a geological hammer	Fresh basalt, chert, diabase, gneiss, granite, quartzite
R5	Very strong	100 - 250	4 - 10	Specimen requires many blows of a geological hammer to fracture it	Amphibolite, sandstone, basalt, gabbro, gneiss, granodiorite, peridotite, rhyolite, tuff
R4	Strong	50 - 100	2 - 4	Specimen requires more than one blow of a geological hammer to fracture it	Limestone, marble, sandstone, schist
R3	Medium strong	25 - 50	1 - 2	Cannot be scraped or peeled with a pocket knife, specimen can be fractured with a single blow from a geological hammer	Concete, phyllite, schist, siltstone
R2	Weak	5 - 25	**	Can be peeled with a pocket knife with difficulty, shallow indentation made by firm blow with point of a geological hammer	Chalk, claystone, potash, marl, siltstone, shale, rocksalt,
R1	Very weak	1 - 5	**	Crumbles under firm blows with point of a geological hammer, can be peeled by a pocket knife	Highly weathered or altered crock, shale
R0	Extremely weak	0.25 - 1	**	Indented by thumbnail	Stiff fault gouge

Table 4.Field estimates of uniaxial compressive strength of intact rock.

* Grade according to Brown (1981).

** Point load tests on rocks with a uniaxial compressive strength below 25 MPa are likely to yield highly ambiguous results.

(b) Rock Quality Designation (RQD), R₂

The RQD, as originally defined by Deere et al. (1967), is the percentage of intact drill core pieces longer than 100 mm (4 inches) in the total length of core.

i.e. RQD = {(sum of core pieces > 100 mm)/total length of core}
$$\times$$
 100%

However, when no core is available but the discontinuity traces are visible in surface exposure as in the case of this research, or exploration adits, Palmstrom (1982) suggested a relationship to calculate RQD:

$$RQD = 115 - 3.3 Jv, (4.5 < Jv < 35)$$

Further in another attempt, a new relationship between RQD and Jv was suggested by Palmstrom (2005):

$$RQD = 110 - 2.5 Jv, (4 < Jv < 44)$$

where, Jv is the volumetric joint count, which is the number of joints intersecting a volume of 1 m³. Palmstrom (2005) has suggested the following relationship to calculate Jv:

$$Jv = \frac{1}{s_1} + \frac{1}{s_2} + \frac{1}{s_3} + \dots + \frac{1}{s_n} + Nr/5(\sqrt{A})$$

where,

s = spacing of joint set Nr = no. of random joint sets

 $A = area covered in m^2$

The relationship RQD = 110 - 2.5Jv has been followed throughout the research.

(c) Spacing of Discontinuity, R₃

It is the perpendicular distance between the adjacent discontinuities of the same set (ISRM, 1978). Regarding the spacing of different joint sets, the mean value was taken. A power tape was used for the measurement.

(d) Condition of discontinuity, R₄

The condition of discontinuity was rated as per Table 3.

(e) Groundwater Condition, R₅

Groundwater condition was based upon the field scenario (dry, damp, wet, dripping or flowing), with a higher rating for a drier rock mass (Bieniawski, 1989).

Finally, RMR was calculated as,

$$RMR = R_1 + R_2 + R_3 + R_4 + R_5$$

Once the rating of RMR for the rock mass was done, the rock mass was classified as per the classification of Bieniawski (1989).

Table 5.RMR value vs Class and Description of rock mass

Rating	100-81	80-61	60-41	40-21	<21
Class number	Ι	II	III	IV	V
Description	Very Good rock	Good rock	Fair rock	Poor rock	Very Poor rock

3.2.1.2. Dam Mass Rating (DMR)

The DMR of the rock mass was computed as per Romana (2003b), where a relationship has been suggested:

$\mathbf{DMR}_{\mathbf{STA}} = \mathbf{RMR}_{\mathbf{BD}} + \mathbf{CF} \times \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{STA}},$

where, $DMR_{STA} = Dam$ Mass Rating for the dam stability $RMR_{BD} = Basic Dry RMR$ CF = Geometric Correction Factor $R_{STA} = Rating of the adjusting factor for dam stability.$

RMR_{BD}, as discussed in Romana (2003b), is the sum of the five parameters of "basic" RMR_B of Bieniawski (1989), but with some modification in the first and the fifth parameters.

i. Compressive strength, tested in water conditions when the rock is going to be saturated, and with the same pH of water, and therefore, scoring half of the UCS value of RMR_B, as the compressive strength of the rock will diminish heavily when saturated and its rating probably will halve (Romana, 2003b).
ii. RQD

- iii. Joint spacing, of the significative (s) joint
- iv. Condition of the significative (s) joint
- v. Water rating, always 15 (as if dry)

CF is a geometric correction factor, (as when the dip direction of the significative joint is not almost parallel to the downstream-upstream axis of the dam the danger of sliding diminishes due to the geometrical difficulties to slide) (Romana, 2003b).

CF is calculated as:

$$\mathbf{CF} = (1 - \sin \mathbf{l}\alpha_{\mathrm{d}} - \alpha_{\mathrm{j}}\mathbf{l})^{2},$$

where, α_d = direction upstream downstream of the dam axis

 α_j = dip direction of the significative joint.

R_{STA} is the rating of the adjusting factor for dam stability (Table 6).

Table 6.Rating of the adjusting factors for the dam stability, R_{STA} according to joints orientation (Romana, 2003a)

Type of Dam	VF (Very favourable)	F (Favourable	FA (Fair)	U (Unfavourable)	VU (Very unfavourable
Fill	Others	10-30 DS	0-10 A	-	-
Gravity	10-60 DS	30-60 US 60-90 A	10-30 US	0-10 A	
Arch	30-60 DS	10-30 DS	30-60 US 60-90 A	10-30 US	0-10 A
R _{STA}	0	-2	-7	-15	-25

DS = Dip Downstream; US = Dip Upstream; A = Any dip

Gravity dam includes CVC and RCC concrete dams.

Once, the DMR_{STA} is computed, a correlation between the value of DMR_{STA} and the degree of safety of the dam against sliding is suggested as a rule of thumb (Table 7), because of the short of data allowing to establish such correlation (Romana, 2003).

Table 7.Correlation between DMR_{STA} and Degree of Safety (Romana, 2003)

DMR _{STA}	<30	30 - 60	>60
Degree of Safety	Serious Concern	Concern	No Primary Concern

Finally some simple guidelines have been tentatively proposed (Table 8) for excavation and for consolidation grouting a few meters deep (Romana, 2003a).

Type of Dam	Excavate to	Consolidation	Consolidation Grouting according to $\mathbf{DMR}_{\mathbf{STA}}$							
Type of Dum	$\mathbf{RMR}^{+}_{\mathbf{BD}}$	Systematic	Spot	None						
Earth	-	-	-	-						
Rockfill	>20 (>30)	20 - 30	30 - 50	>50						
Gravity	>40 (>60)	40 - 50	50 - 60	>60						
Arch	>50 (>70)	50 - 60	60 - 70	>70						

Table 8.Tentative guidelines for dam foundation excavation and consolidation grouting (Romana, 2003b)

(+) minimum (desirable)

- gravity dams included CVC and RCC concrete
- Rockfill dams included are the ones sensible to settlement (like CFRD and AFRD)

3.3. Data Processing

The field work was followed by the working with the collected data. It was the included engrossment of the classification, computation and comprehension of the data to make the interpretation that would justify the result.



Figure 4. Methodology used during research

CHAPTER IV RESULTS

The study area, which was in excavating stage, covered the area of $132 \text{ m} \times 90 \text{ m}$, the dam axis running right along the middle of the area and across the stream channel that left 45 m upstream and 45 m downstream widths. Altogether, the data were retrieved from 20 observation points, which were named L1 to L20, for the measurement of the lithology, structuralogy, insitu strength, discontinuity attitudes, spacing and condition, groundwater condition, weathering grade condition, the coordinates and the altitudes above sea level (asl). Of the 20 observation points, seven were located at the upstream, seven along the dam axis and six at the downstream; laterally, there were eleven location points to the left and nine to the right from the stream channel. The stream flows from almost the centre of the upstream traverse line through almost the centre of the axis traverse line towards the mid-left of the downstream traverse line.

The maps were then produced, the RMR and the DMR for the rock mass computed, the chances for the dam failure by sliding checked and the engineering remedy proposed.

4.1. Topography, Lithology and Structure

The topography of the study area was a v-shaped river valley going as low as 2060 m asl at the thalweg of the downstream boundary traverse line and rising as high as 2099.899 m asl at the hilltop of L12, the left end point of the dam axis. At the upstream boundary traverse line the hill descended from 2090.388 m asl at the left to meet the thalweg at 2062 m asl, 55 to 75 m away and ascended to the hilltop of 2088.052 m asl at the right end. Similarly, at the dam axis traverse line, the hill descended from 2099.899 m asl, 50 m away and ascended to the hilltop of 2090.576 m asl at the right end. Likewise, at the downstream boundary traverse line, the hill descended short from 2071.761 m asl to meet the thalweg at 2060 m asl, 20 to 35 m away and rose to 2098.549 m asl at the right end. The stream channel flowed from upstream, 2062 m asl through the axis, 2061 m asl and to the downstream, 2060 m asl.

The coordinates and the altitudes were taken at L5, L11, L12, L15, L16, L17, L18, L19 and L20 (Table 9).

SN	Location name	Situation	Latitude (N)	Longitude (E)	Altitude (m asl)
1	L1	u/s, left	-	-	-
2	L2	u/s, left	-	-	-
3	L3	u/s, left	-	-	-
4	L4	u/s, left			
5	L5	u/s, right	3077212.07	643683.846	2062.735
6	L6	axis, left			
7	L7	axis, left	-	-	-
8	L8	d/s, right	-	-	-
9	L9	axis, right	-	-	-
10	L10	axis, right			
11	L11	axis, right	3077212.919	643604.394	2090.576
12	L12	axis, left	3077134.343	643703.269	2099.899
13	L13	d/s, left	-	-	-
14	L14	d/s, left	-	-	-
15	L15	u/s, left	3077167.861	643733.295	2090.388
16	L16	u/s, right	3077256.395	643634.384	2088.052
17	L17	d/s, right	3077189.358	643574.4	2098.549
18	L18	d/s, right	3077145.006	643623.768	2073.155
19	L19	d/s, left	3077100.784	643673.178	2071.761
20	L20	axis, right	3077178.602	643653.864	2061.869

Table 9.Location of observation points

The lithology of the area, wherever the excavation reached the bedrock was identified as banded gneiss of Sheopuri Formation. The gneiss was in varied weathered condition ranging from Fresh to Residual Soil regarding weathering (Figure 5).

Structurally, the rocks were folded in micro to meso scale. A syncform running almost along the middle of the stream channel was identified, which dipped towards the stream. Three joint sets were observed, dip ranging from the horizontal to the vertical, minor faults and shear zones were also observed (Figure 6).

4.2. Weathering Grade

The weathering grade ranged from Fresh bedrock to Highly Weathered condition to Residual Soil. Fresh gneiss was observed at the valley and towards some lateral extensions, until the Moderately Weathered gneiss, the Highly Weathered gneiss and the Residual Soil. Fresh gneiss of the upstream traverse line was found to have spread as wide as 83 m. This narrowed down towards the axis line to the width of 53 m, which further narrowed towards the downstream traverse line to the width of 43 m. At the upstream, from the centre towards the left, the Moderately weathered gneiss spread across 7 m, then the Highly weathered gneiss for 1 m and the residual soil for more than 26 m, whereas towards the right the only other grade was the Moderately weathered gneiss for more than 15 m. At the dam axis, from the centre, towards the left, the Moderately weathered gneiss was spread for 7 m, the Highly weathered gneiss for 10 m and the Residual soil for more than 15 m, whereas towards the right, the Moderately weathered gneiss was spread across for 24 m, Highly weathered gneiss for 12 m and the residual soil for more than 10 m. At the downstream, at the far left the Moderately Weathered gneiss was spread across more than 7 m, whereas right from the thalweg, the Moderately Weathered gneiss was spread across 8 m, then the Highly Weathered gneiss for more than 63 m. The thickness of the left and the right bank respectively, of the Residual soil, Highly Weathered, and Moderately Weathered gneisses were 14 to 15 m and 7 to 18 m, 1 to 6 m and 5 to 9 m, and 2 to 6 m and 2 to 6 m respectively. The thickness of the Fresh gneiss was more than 7 to more than 22 m (Figures 7, 8 and 9).

4.3. The RMR

The RMR values were deduced from ten location points, five at the upstream, two at the axis and three at the downstream traverse lines, having measured the first five parameters of the RMR (Table 10). They are described with respect to the observation points (Figure 10).

L1

The rock was exposed at the left bank, upstream and was fresh gneiss with (50 - 100) MPa UCS value, 62.525% RQD, discontinuity spacing (0.09 - 0.5)m, medium to low persistency, tight joints, rough to smooth rough surface, hard filling < 5 mm to none and some slightly weathered wall rock, dry. The RMR was determined to be 65, class II and Good rock. The foliation plane had the attitude of $300^{\circ}/15^{\circ}$ (dip direction/ dip amount).



Figure 5. Engineering geological map of the study area



Figure 6. Structural map of the study area



Figure 7. Cross section along the upstream traverse line



Figure 8. Cross section along the dam axis traverse line



Figure 9. Cross section along the downstream traverse line

The rock was exposed at the left bank, upstream and was fresh gneiss with (50 - 100) MPa UCS value, 82.125% RQD, discontinuity spacing (0.18 - 0.57)m, medium to low persistency, open to tight joints, rough surface, none to soft filling < 5 mm and slightly weathered wall, damp. The RMR was calculated 63, class II, Good rock. The attitude of the foliation plane was $260^{\circ}/20^{\circ}$.

L3

The rock was exposed at the left bank, upstream and was fresh gneiss with (25 - 50) MPa UCS value, 90.275% RQD, (0.33 - 0.45)m discontinuity spacing, very low to low persistency, moderately open to open joints, soft filling, moderately to slightly weathered wall rock, damp. The RMR was found to be 60, class III and Fair rock. The attitude of the foliation plane was 215°/05°.

L4

The rock was exposed at the left bank, upstream and was moderately weathered gneiss with (5 - 25) MPa UCS value, 54.675% RQD, discontinuity spacing (0.10 - 0.17) m, very low to low persistency, open to tight joints, rough to very rough surfaces, hard filling > 5 mm, moderately weathered wall rock, damp. The RMR was calculated 52, class III, Fair rock. The attitude of the foliation plane was 213°/15°.

L5

The rock was exposed at the right bank, upstream and was fresh gneiss with (25 - 50) MPa UCS value, 13.875% RQD, discontinuity spacing (0.06-0.27) m, very low to low persistency, moderately open to tight joints, smooth rough to rough surfaces hard <5mm to soft > 5mm filling, slightly to highly weathered rock wall, damp. The RMR was computed 42, class III, Fair rock. The attitude of the foliation plane was 105°/7°.

L6

The rock was exposed at the left bank, the dam axis and was fresh gneiss with (25-50) MPa UCS value, 25.375% RQD, discontinuity spacing (0.03-0.78)m., low to high persistency, moderately open to tight joints, smooth rough surface, none to hard filling <5 mm, slightly to moderately weathered wall rock, damp. The RMR was 51, Class III, Fair rock. The attitude of the foliation plane was $265^{\circ}/22^{\circ}$.

The exposure was at the left bank, the dam axis and was highly weathered gneiss. The attitude of the foliation plane was 150°/05°.

L8

The rock was exposed at the right bank, downstream the dam axis and was fresh gneiss with (25-50) MPa UCS value, 91.475% RQD, discontinuity spacing (0.32 – 0.70)m, low to medium persistency, moderately open to very tight joints, smooth rough to rough surface, none to hard filling < 5mm, slightly to unweathered rock wall, dry. The RMR was computed 72, class II, Good rock. The attitude of the foliation plane was $070^{\circ}/15^{\circ}$.

L9

The rock was exposed at the right bank, at the dam axis and was moderately weathered gneiss. The attitude of the foliation plane was $010^{\circ}/32^{\circ}$.

L10

The rock was exposed at the right bank, at the dam axis and was identified as highly weathered gneiss with (5-25) MPa UCS value, -46.6% RQD, discontinuity spacing (0.05-0.06) m, low to medium persistency, moderately open to open joints, rough surface, hard filling, slightly to moderately weathered wall rock, damp. The RMR was calculated 37, class IV, Poor rock. The attitude of the foliation plane was $030^{\circ}/10^{\circ}$.

L11

The observation point was located at the right end of the dam axis. It was covered with brownish grey residual soil with vegetation.

L12

The observation point was located at the left end of the dam axis and was covered with brownish grey residual soil with vegetation.

L13

The rock was exposed at the left bank, downstream and was fresh gneiss with (50-100) MPa UCS value, 86.5% RQD, discontinuity spacing (0.28-0.40)m, very high to

low persistency, moderately open to tight joints, rough surface, none to soft filling 75 mm, moderately to unweathered wall rock, dry. The RMR was calculated 68, class II, Good rock. The attitude of the foliation plane was 245°/20°.

L14

The rock was exposed at the left bank, downstream and was moderately weathered gneiss with (25-50) MPa UCS value, 69.95% RQD, discontinuity spacing (0.15-0.20)m, low persistency, moderately open joints, rough surface, hard filling <5mm, moderately to unweathered wall rock, damp. The RMR was computed 56, class III, Fair rock. The attitude of the foliation plane was $035^{\circ}/15^{\circ}$.

Therefore, the rock mass fell under Poor rock to Good rock, Poor at one observation point, Fair at five points and Good at four observation points.



Figure 10. Contour plot of joint sets at L1



Figure 11. Contour plot of joint sets at L2



Figure 12. Contour plot of joint sets at L3



Figure 13. Contour plot of joint sets at L4



Figure 14. Contour plot of joint sets at L5



Color		Density C	once	entrations	
		0.00		1.30	
		1.30	-	2.60	
		2.60	-	3.90	
		3.90	-	5.20	
		5.20	-	6.50	
		6.50	-	7.80	
		7.80	-	9.10	
		9.10		10.40	
		10.40	-	11.70	
		11.70		13.00	
Maximum	Density	12.48%			
Conte	our Data	Pole Vecto	rs		
Contour Dist	ribution	Fisher			
Counting Ci	rcle Size	1.0%			
PI	ot Mode	Pole Vecto	rs		
Vecto	or Count	50 (50 Ent	ries)		
Hen	nisphere	Lower			
Pr	ojection	Equal Ang	e		

Figure 15. Contour plot of joint sets at L6



Figure 16. Contour plot of joint sets at L8



Figure 17. Contour plot of joint sets at L10



Figure 18. Contour plot of joint sets at L13



Figure 19. Contour plot of joint sets at L14

4.4. The DMR

For all the observation points for which RMR was computed, the DMR was computed too. RMR_{BD} was obtained from RMR_B (Table 11). C.F. was calculated for each of the three joint sets, with varying α_j but constant α_d (Table 13). The streamflow direction upstream-downstream the dam axis was determined as N45°E. However, because in all the observation points joint sets J2 and J3 dipped >30, the R_{STA} was scored 0 (Table 12), which equaled C.F. × R_{STA} to 0, which in turn equaled DMR_{STA} for joint sets J2 and J3 to RMR_{BD} alone. Therefore, only the joint set J1 was taken as the significative (s) joint to compute DMR_{STA} for that joint set. However, the final DMR_{STA} for each observation point (Table 14). The DMR ranged from 39.719 to 70 (Table 14).

	Location	UCS						Spacing			Discontinuity					Descripti
SN	name	(Mpa)	R1	Jv	RQD	R2	S1	S2	S3	R3	condition R4	GW	R5	RMR _B	Class	on
1	L1	50 - 100	7	18.99	62.525	13	0.09	0.5	0.17	9	21	c. dry	15	65	П	Good
2	L2	50 - 100	7	11.15	82.125	17	0.26	0.57	0.18	9	20	damp	10	63	П	Good
3	L3	25 - 50	4	7.89	90.275	20	0.36	0.33	0.48	10	16	damp	10	60	III	Fair
4	L4	525	2	22.13	54.675	13	0.17	0.16	0.1	8	19	damp	10	52	III	Fair
5	L5	25 - 50	4	38.45	13.875	3	0.06	0.17	0.27	9	16	damp	10	42	III	Fair
6	L6	25 - 50	4	33.85	25.375	8	0.04	0.22	0.78	10	19	damp	10	51	III	Fair
7	L7	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
8	L8	25 - 50	4	7.41	21.475	20	0.32	0.7	0.35	12	21	c. dry	15	72	II	Good
9	L9	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
10	L10	525	2	59.66	39.166	3x	0.05	0.03	0.05	5	17	damp	10	37	IV	Poor
11	L11	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
12	L12	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
13	L13	50 - 100	7	9.4	86.5	17	0.28	0.4	0.3	10	19	c. dry	15	68	II	Good
14	L14	25 - 50	4	17.22	69.95	13	0.18	0.15	0.2	8	21	damp	10	56	III	Fair

Table 10. Calculation for RMR, summarized

The DMR_{STA} was computed as 60.057. This by the definition of degree of safety of the dam against sliding fell under No Concern category. Hence, no engineering remedy is required.

L2

The DMR_{STA} was 61.34 which meant No Concern regarding the degree of safety. Therefore, no engineering remedy is required.

L3

The DMR_{STA} was calculated 61.045 which meant No Concern to require any engineering remedy for the safety of the dam against sliding.

L4

The DMR_{STA} was computed 55.582 which fell under the category of Concern as per the degree of safety. Therefore, spot consolidation grouting is proposed as engineering remedy.

L5

The DMR_{STA} was confirmed to 44.960. This showed the concern category in the Degree of safety. Therefore, spot consolidation grouting as an engineering remedy is proposed.

L6

The DMR_{STA} was calculated to 52.534. This required the concern for the degree of safety. Hence, spot consolidation grouting is proposed as an engineering remedy.

L8

The DMR_{STA} was computed to 70 that signaled 'No Concern' for the degree of safety. Therefore, no engineering remedy ought to be called.

L10

The DMR_{STA} was calculated to 39.719. This alarmed the degree of safety to 'Concern' category and therefore calls for spot consolidation grouting as an engineering remedy.

The DMR_{STA} was calculated to 65, a good rating to call it a 'No Concern' category in the degree of safety. Hence, no engineering remedy is required.

L14

The DMR_{STA} was confirmed to 59 which alarmed the degree of safety of the dam against sliding to place it under 'Concern' category and thus, spot consolidation grouting is sought for as an engineering remedy.

Hence, the calculated DMR_{STA} signaled that five observation points demanded an engineering treatment of the rock mass whereas the other five did not (Figure 10).

Table 11.Calculation for RMR_{BD}

										Discontin		
										uity		
	Location						Spacing			condition		
SN	name		$R1_{BD}$	RQD	R2	S1	S2	S3	R3	R4	GW,R5 _{BD}	RMR _{BD}
1	L1	25 - 50	4	62.525	13	0.09	0.5	0.17	9	21	15	62
2	L2	25 - 50	4	82.125	17	0.26	0.57	0.18	9	20	15	63
3	L3	525	2	90.275	20	0.36	0.33	0.48	10	16	15	63
4	L4	1 5	1	54.675	13	0.17	0.16	0.1	8	19	15	56
5	L5	525	2	13.875	3	0.06	0.17	0.27	9	16	15	45
6	L6	525	2	25.375	8	0.04	0.22	0.78	10	19	15	54
7	L7	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
8	L8	525	2	21.475	20	0.32	0.7	0.35	12	21	15	70
9	L9	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
10	L10	15	1	39.166	Зx	0.05	0.03	0.05	5	17	15	41
11	L11	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
12	L12	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
13	L13	25 - 50	4	86.5	17	0.28	0.4	0.3	10	19	15	65
14	L14	525	2	69.95	13	0.18	0.15	0.2	8	21	15	59

			Dip/Rsta	
SN	Location name	J1(dip)/R _{STA}	J2(dip)/R _{STA}	J3(dip)/R _{STA}
1	L1	15 DS/-2	65 DS/0	82 DS/0
2	L2	20 DS/-2	75 DS/0	75 DS/0
3	L3	05 DS/-7	75 DS/0	85 DS/0
4	L4	15 DS/-2	65 US/0	85 DS/0
5	L5	07 US/-7	70 US/0	55 DS/0
6	L6	22 DS/-2	80 DS/0	85 DS/0
7	L7	-	-	-
8	L8	15 US/-2	80 DS/0	77 DS/0
9	L9	-	-	-
10	L10	10 US/-7	84 US/0	90 DS/0
11	L11	-	-	-
12	L12	-	-	-
13	L13	20 DS/0	66 DS/0	84 US/O
14	L14	15 US/0	88 US/0	48 DS/0

Table 12. Calculation for R_{STA}

Table 13. Calculation for CF

			J1			J2			J3	
	Location									
SN	name	α_{j1}	$ \alpha_d - \alpha_{j1} $	CF1	α_{j2}	$ \alpha_d - \alpha_{j2} $	CF2	α_{j3}	$ \alpha_d - \alpha_{j3} $	CF3
1	L1	300	255	2.914	135	90	0	220	175	0.833
2	L2	260	215	2.476	135	90	0	210	165	0.549
3	L3	215	170	0.682	290	245	3.634	215	170	0.682
4	L4	213	168	0.627	110	65	0.008	225	180	1
5	L5	105	60	0.017	110	65	0.008	200	155	0.333
6	L6	265	220	2.698	280	235	3.309	220	175	0.833
7	L7									
8	L8	70	25	0.333	145	100	0.0002	285	240	3.482
9	L9									
10	L10	30	15	0.549	45	0	1	135	90	0
11	L11									
12	L12									
13	L13	245	200	1.801	144	99	0.0001	30	15	0.549
14	L14	35	10	0.682	105	60	0.017	225	180	1

Table 14. Calculation for DMR

	Location													
SN	name	RMR_{BD}	CF1	R _{STA1}	DMR _{STA1}	CF2	R _{STA2}	DMR _{STA2}	CF3	R _{STA3}	DMR _{STA3}	DMR _{STA}	DoS	Remedy
1	L1	62	2.914	-2	56.172	0	0	62	0.833	0	62	60.057	NC	none
2	L2	63	2.476	-2	58.048	0	0	63	0.549	0	63	61.34	NC	none
3	L3	63	0.682	-7	58.276	3.634	0	63	0.682	0	63	61.048	NC	none
														spot consolidation
4	L4	56	0.627	-2	54.746	0.008	0	56	1	0	56	55.582	С	grouting
														spot consolidation
5	L5	45	0.017	-7	44.881	0.008	0	45	0.333	0	45	44.96	С	grouting
														spot consolidation
6	L6	54	2.698	-2	49.604	3.309	0	54	0.833	0	54	52.534	С	grouting
7	L7	-						-			-		-	-
8	L8	70	0.333	0	70	0.0002	0	70	3.482	0	70	70	NC	none
9	L9	-						-			-		-	-
														spot consolidation
10	L10	41	0.549	-7	37.157	1	0	41	0	0	41	39.719	С	grouting
11	L11	-						-			-		-	-
12	L12	-						-			-		-	-
13	L13	65	1.801	0	65	0.0001	0	65	0.549	0	65	65	NC	none
														spot consolidation
14	L14	59	0.682	0	59	0.017	0	59	1	0	59	59	С	grouting



Figure 20. RMR vs DMR of the study area

CHAPTER V DISCUSSION

The footprint of the dam foundation preserved the records of foliation trend going along NNW to SSE. Several fractures and faults were also observed. This is attributed to the metamorphism in gneiss which also resulted in intense folding. The synform, almost along the axis of which flowed the stream channel, was the outcome of such folding that ran throughout the study area upstream – downstream. It is assumed that same is the case in the upstream, thereby contributing to the accumulation of water towards the reservoir.

The cross sections depict the odd layering at the opposite banks. It is because the distinction made therein was not of the bedding plane but of the weathering grade layers, the progression of which was hard to detect. Moreover, it was assumed that the layering went near parallel to the hill slope before excavation, as such has been assumed that water penetrates to near equal depth from the surface, provided the geology is same, to weather the underlying strata. In Cross section 1 the Fresh rock was met at the shallower depth at right end compared to that at the left. It was because the topography at the right before the excavation had been higher, which difficulted the water penetration. However, those at the left and the right in Cross section 2 were at similar elevation to place Fresh gneiss to similar depth, whereas in Cross section 3 the absences of the grades of weathering at the left bank is accounted to the streambed lying therein, which is an agent to wash away the weaker materials which in turn affects the maturity of the slope.

The RMR and the DMR of the rock masses of the study area varied spatially even when weathering grade of the gneiss was same. At L1 the RMR was 65 which was attributed to the optimum Groundwater rating and to all other ratings being of medium value; the DMR was 60.057 as the significative joint was of Favourable R_{STA} rating. The rock mass of L2 had RMR 63 which came out of Good Quality RQD rating and of the other ratings being above medium; the DMR was 61.34 accounting to Favourable R_{STA} rating. The rock mass at L3 had RMR 60 despite the decreased UCS value, as the RQD rating was at its optimum value and the other ratings above the medium; the DMR, however, was 61.048, greater than RMR, which was

accounted to the increased $RMR_{BD} - 63$, despite the R_{STA} rating going as low as just to be Fair. At L4, climbing further up towards the left, the rock mass had RMR 52 which was because the observation point was located at Fresh – Moderately weathered condition of gneiss where the UCS was weak and RQD Fair, also the spacing of the discontinuity was close; the DMR here too exceeded the RMR, 55.582 as because the RMR_{BD} exceeded the RMR_B and the R_{STA} rating was in Favourable value. L5, in spite of being located in the centre of the upstream traverse line, had even lower RMR – 42, as because the RQD value was Very Poor therein, and also the UCS value just being medium strong; the DMR, because of the RMR_{BD} exceeding the RMR_B, was again higher than the RMR – 44.96. The rock mass at L6 had RMR 51 and DMR 52.534; the RMR value was attributed to Poor RQD and Medium strong UCS value whereas the DMR was accounted to the RMR_{BD} value which was greater than RMR_B value, and to the Favourable R_{STA} value. L7 rested on Residual soil and hence no RMR and DMR were computed. The rock mass at L8 had the highest RMR value - 72, which was attributed to the optimum values of the RQD and of the Groundwater condition, plus the above medium rating of the other parameters; the DMR too was the highest – 70, accounted to the Very Favourable RSTA value. The rock mass at L10 was a Poor rock with the lowest RMR – 37, which was attributed to very low spacing of all three joint sets, that heightened the volumetric joint count, Jv, to as high as 59.66, which even exceeded the range (4.5 < Jv < 35) to negatively score the RQD, and also brought low UCS value, (5-25) MPa; the DMR too was the lowest - 39.719 because of the RSTA value going as low as just to be Fair despite the RMRBD exceeding RMR_B. The observation points of L11 and L12 rested on Residual soil. The rock mass at L13 had RMR 68 attributed to optimum Groundwater value and Good RQD, and DMR 65, attributed to Very Favourable RsTA rating. The rock mass at L14 had RMR 56, all ratings being above medium, and DMR 59 because the RMR_{BD} exceeded RMR_B and the R_{STA} rating was Very Favourable.

CHAPTER VI CONCLUSION

The selection of the area for the construction of the dam, where this research has been carried out, seems to be very befitting in engineering geological perspective. The geology of the site is banded gneiss of Higher Himalayan Crystalline. Most of the central section of the upstream-downstream portion of the proposed dam rests on Fresh gneiss that is spread for more than half of the total foundation area. The weathering grade of the rock mass ranged from Fresh rock to Residual soil; the RMR is as high as 72 and as low as 37; the DMR is the highest at 70 and the lowest at 39.7. A fold, synform has been observed. The axis of the fold runs from almost the centre of the upstream boundary in NE – SW direction until the dam axis and then bends to the N – S direction to leave off the downstream boundary of the study area. The stream runs almost along this fold axis.

The prime focus of the research was the rock mass condition of the dam site with respect to DMR system. The following statements have been deduced as conclusion:

- i. Most rock masses are damp, ranging from class IV to class I, Poor Rock to Good Rock.
- The rock masses at L4, L5, L6, L10 and L14 are the 'Concern' category in degree of safety of dam against sliding. Therefore, spot consolidation grouting is recommended. Special attention be given to L10.
- iii. Both of the ends of the dam axis rest on the residual soil, which weakens the dam by the seepage of water through abutments. Engineering remedy is felt of need, one such remedy can be the further excavation to meet the bed rock.

REFERENCES

- Bassarie, H., (2006). Engineering geological studies and tunnel support design at Sulakyurt dam site, Turkey. Engineering Geology, v. 86. Pp. 225 237.
- Bieniawski, Z.T., 1989. Engineering rock mass classification. John Wiley & Sons, New York, 252 p.
- Bordet, P., Cokhen, M., and Le Fort, P., 1972. Some features of the geology of Annapurna range Nepal Himalaya. Himalayan Geology, v. 2. pp. 237 563.
- Borrelli, L., Perri, F., Critelli, S., and Gulla, G., (2014). Characterization of granitoid and gneissic weathering profiles of the Mucone River basin (Calabria, Southern Italy). Catena, v. 113. pp. 325 340.
- BRBIP, 2013. EIA. draft
- Choi, S.Y. and Park, H.D., 2004. Variation of rock quality designation (RQD) with scanline orientation and length a case study in Korea, International Journal of Rock Mechanics and Mining Sciences, 41(2), 207 – 221.
- CoIchen, M., Le Fort, P. and Pecher, A., 1980. Carte geologique au l: 200.000 de la region Annapurnas-Manaslu-Ganesh, Himalaya du Nepal. CNRS (eds.), Paris.
- CoIchen. M., Le Fort, P. and Pecher, A., 1986, Recherches geologiques dans l'Himalaya du Nepal. Annapuma-Manaslu-Ganesh. CNRS (eds.), Paris, 136 p.
- Critelli, S., Di Nocera, S., and Le Pera, E., (1991). Approccio metodologico per la valutazione petrografica del grado di alterazione degli gneiss del Massiccio Silano (Calabria settentrionale) Geologia Applicata e Idrogeolozia, 26, 41 70.
- Deere, D.U. and Deere, D.W., 1988. The rock quality designation (RQD) index in practice. In symposium on Rock Classification Systems for Engineering Purposes, 1988, Cincinnati, Ohio, USA.

- Deere, D.U., 1963. Technical description fo rock cores for engineering purposes, Felsmechanik and Ingenleurgeologic (Rock Mechanics and Engineering Geology), 1:1, pp. 16 – 22.
- Deere, D.U., 1989. Rock quality designation (RQD) after 20 years. US Army Corps Engrs Contract Reprot GL - 89 – 1. Vicksburg, MS: Waterways Experimental Station.
- Deere, D.U., Hendron, A.J., Jr., Patton, F.D. and Cording, E.J., 1967. Design of surface and near-surface construction. Rock Failure and Breakage of Rock, ed. C. Fairhurst, Soc. of Min. Eng., AIME, N.Y., pp. 237 302.
- Esaki, T. and Jiang, K., 1999. Comprehensive study of the weathered condition of welded tuff from a historic stone bridge in Kagoshima, Japan.
- Esu, E.O., Okereke, C.S., Edet, A.E., & Okwnrze, E.E., (1996). Geotechnical characterization of Obudu damsite, Obudu, South-earstern Nigeria. Engineering Geology, 42, 285 299.
- Fraser, W.A., 2001. Engineering geology consideration for specifying dam foundation objective.
- Ghimire, N., 2018, Dhap dam design and construction project engineering geological report. pp.4
- Hoek, E. and Bray, J.D., 1981. Rock slope engineering CRC Press.
- Hoek, E. and Brown, J.D., 1980. Empirical strength criterion for rock masses. Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering, 106 (ASCE 15751).
- Hoek, E., and Brown, E.T., 1997. Practical estimates of rock mass strength. 1997. International Journal of Rock Mechanics and Mining Sciences, v. 34, no. 8, pp. 1165 – 1186.
- Hoek, E., Read, J., Karzulovic, A. and Chen, Z.Y., 2000. Rock slopes in civil and mining engineering. Proceedings of the International Conference on Geotechnical and Geological Engineering, Geo Eng 2000.

- ISRM, 1978. Suggested methods for the quantitative description of discontinuities in rock masses. Int. J. Rock Mech. Min. Sci. & Geomech. Abstr. 15:6:3 19 368.
- Le Fort, P., 1975. Himalaya: the colliided range. Present knowledge of the continental arc. Am. J. Sci., v. 275A, pp. 1-44.
- Le Fort, P., Debon, F. and Sonet, J., 1983. The lower Paleozoic "Lesser Himalayan" granitic belt: emphasis on the Simchar pluton of central Nepal. In: "Granites of Himalayas, Karakorum and Hindu-Kush", F. A. Shams (ed.), Inst. Geol. Punjab univ., Lahore, Pakistan. pp. 235-255.
- Le Fort. P., Debon F. and Sonet, J., 1981. Lower Paleozoic emplacement for granites and granitic gneisses of the Kathmandu nappe (Central Nepal). Terra Cognita, special issue, v. 30. 72 p.
- Le Pera, E., Critelli, S., and Socciso Valvo, M., (2001). Weathering of gneiss in Calabria, Southern Italy. Catena, 42, 1 15.
- Leulalem, S.B., Kifle, W., and Nata, T., (2016). Geological and geotechnical investigations of Axum dam site, Tigray, northern Ethiopia. International Journal of Scientific and Technological Research, v. 5.
- Ozsan, A., and Akin, M., (2002). Engineering geological assessment of the proposed Urus Dam, Turkey. Engineering Geology, 66, 271 281.
- Ozsan, A., and Karpuz, C., (1996). Geotechnical rock-mass evaluation of the Anamur dam site, Turkey. Engineering Geology, 42, 65 70.
- Palmstrom, A., 2000. On classification system In. Proceedings of Workshop on Reliability of Classification Systems a Part of the International Conference "Geo Eng – 2000", Melbourne.
- Palmstrom, A., 2001. Measurement and characterization of rock mass jointing, In. Insitu characterization of rocks, ed. V.M. Sharma and K.R. Saxena, A.A. Balkema Publishers.

- Parish, R. R., and Hodges, K.V., 1996. Isotopic constraints on the age and provenance of the Lesser and Greater Himalaya Sequence Nepal Himalaya. Geological Society of America, v. 108, pp. 904 – 911.
- Pecher, A. and Le Fort, P., 1986. Origin and significance of the Lesser HImalaya augen gneisses. Collegues Internationaux du C.N.S. No. 286, Ecologic et Geologie de l'Himalaya, Paris, pp. 319 – 329.
- Pecher, A., 1978. Deformations et metamorphisme associes a une zone de cisaillement: Exemple du grand chevauchement central Himalayen (MCT), These d'Etat, Univ. Grenoble, France, 354 p.
- Pecher, A., 1989. The metamorphism in Central Himalaya. J. Metam. Geol., v. 7, pp. 31-41.
- Pells, P.S., Bieniawski, Z.T., Henchae, S.R. and Pells, S.E., 2017. Rock quality designation (RQD): time to rest in peace. Can. Geotech. J. 54: 825 834.
- Rai, S. M., 1998, Les nappes de Katmandu et du Gosainkund, Himalaya du Nepal central (etude cartographique, structurale, metamorphique, geochimique et radiochronologique). Ph.D. Thesis, Joseph Fourier University. Grenoble, France. 244 p.
- Rai, S. M., 2001. Geology, geochemistry, and radiochronology of the Kathmandu and Gosainkund Crystalline nappes, central Nepal Himalaya. Journal of Nepal Geological Society, v. 25 (Sp. Issue). pp. 135 – 155.
- Rai, S.M., 2003. Geo-chemical characteristics of gneiss of the Gosainkund Crystalline Nappe, Central Nepal Himalaya. News Bulletin of Nepal Geological Society, v. 20 pp. 77 – 81.
- Rai, S.M., Guilot, S., Upreti, B.N. and Pecher, A., 2004. Mineral chemistry (biotite, muscovite, garnet and plagioclase) in the Kathmandu and Gosainkund regions, central Nepal Himalaya. Journal of Nepal Geological Society, v. 30. pp. 55 66.

- Regmi, A.D., Yoshida, K., Dhital, M.R., and Pradhan, B., (2014). Weathering and mineralogical variation in gneissic rocks and their effect in Sangrumba Landslide, East Nepal. Environmental Earth Sciences, 71, 2711 – 2727.
- Rinaldi, M., D'Alberti, Davide, and Cutini, S., (?). Innovative application of "Giraffe" technique for dam foundation mapping.
- Romana, M., 2003a. DMR (Dam Mass Rating), an adaptation of RMR geomechanics classification for use in dams foundations. Inst. Cong. on Rock Mechanics. (Technology roadmap for rock mechanics) South African Inst. of Min and Met.
- Romana, M., 2003b. DMR, a new geomechanics classification for use in dam foundations, adapted from RMR. 4th Int Symp on roller compacted concrete (RCC) dams Madrid. Preprint.
- Scarciglia, F., Le Pera, E., and Critelli, S., 2007. The onset of sedimentary cycle in a mid latitude upland environment: weathering, pedogenesis and geomorphic processes on plutonic rocks (Sila Massif, Calabria). In. J. Arrbas, S. Critelli, & M. Johnson (Eds.), Sedimentary provenance: petrographic and geochemical perspectives (pp. 149 166). Boulder: The Geological Society of America.
- Scharer. U. and Allegre. C. J., 1983. The Palung granite (Himalaya); high-resolution U-Pb systematics in zircon and monazite. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett., v. 63, pp. 423 - 432.
- Selby, M.J., 1993. Hillslope materials and processes. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Shaflei, A., and Dusseault, M.B., 2008. Rock mass characterization at the proposed Kangir dam site in Western Iran.
- Stocklin, J. and Bhatarai. K. D., 1977. Geology of Kathmandu area and central Mahabharat Range. Nepal Himalaya. HMG Nepal/UNDP report, 64 p.
- Stocklin. J., 1980. Geology of the Nepal and its regional frame. Jour. Geol. Soc., London, v. 137. pp. 1-34.

- Upreti, B. N., 1999. An overview of the stratigraphy and tectonics of the Nepal Himalaya. Journal of Asian Earth Science, v. 17. pp. 577 606.
- Zaryab, A., Najaf, M.I., and Jafari, I., 2015. Rock mass engineering classification of Shah-wa-Arus dam site (Kabul, Afghanistan). Special paper of the International Hindu Kush Geosciences Conference.

ANNEX

APPENDIX I TABLES

,	Table	15.	Calculation	for	Jv

SN	Location name	S1	Spacing(m) S2	S 3	Jv
1	L1	0.09	0.5	0.17	18.99
2	L2	0.26	0.57	0.18	11.15
3	L3	0.36	0.33	0.48	7.89
4	L4	0.17	0.16	0.1	22.13
5	L5	0.06	0.17	0.27	38.45
6	L6	0.04	0.22	0.78	33.85
7	L7	-	-	-	-
8	L8	0.32	0.7	0.35	7.41
9	L9	-	-	-	-
10	L10	0.05	0.03	0.05	59.66
11	L11	-	-	-	-
12	L12	-	-	-	-
13	L13	0.28	0.4	0.3	9.4
14	L14	0.18	0.15	0.2	17.22

Table 16. Calculation for apparent dip

SN	Location name	Strike of foliation	α	θ	δ
1	L1	30	105	5	4.8304
2	L2	170	35	20	11.791
3	L3	125	10	5	0.8703
4	L4	123	12	15	3.1886
5	L5	15	120	7	6.0697
6	L6	175	40	22	14.558
7	L7	60	75	5	4.8304
8	L8	160	25	15	6.4606
9	L9	100	35	22	13.047
10	L10	120	15	10	2.6129
11	L11	R.Soil			
12	L12	R.Soil			
13	L13	155	20	20	7.095
14	L14	125	10	15	2.665

 $\alpha = |\text{profile-foliation strike}|; \theta = \text{true dip}; \delta = \text{apparent dip} = \tan^{-1}(\sin\alpha.\tan\theta)$
SN	Location name	Situation	Latitude (N)	Longitude (E)	Altitude (m asl)
1	L1	u/s, left	-	-	-
2	L2	u/s, left	-	-	-
3	L3	u/s, left	-	-	-
4	L4	u/s, left			
5	L5	u/s, right	3077212.07	643683.846	2062.735
6	L6	axis, left			
7	L7	axis, left	-	-	-
8	L8	d/s, right	-	-	-
9	L9	axis, right	-	-	-
10	L10	axis, right			
11	L11	axis, right	3077212.919	643604.394	2090.576
12	L12	axis, left	3077134.343	643703.269	2099.899
13	L13	d/s, left	-	-	-
14	L14	d/s, left	-	-	-
15	L15	u/s, left	3077167.861	643733.295	2090.388
16	L16	u/s, right	3077256.395	643634.384	2088.052
17	L17	d/s, right	3077189.358	643574.4	2098.549
18	L18	d/s, right	3077145.006	643623.768	2073.155
19	L19	d/s, left	3077100.784	643673.178	2071.761
20	L20	axis, right	3077178.602	643653.864	2061.869

Table 17.Location of observation points

Table 18. Attitude of foliations

			Foliation	
SN	Location name	Strike	Dip amount	Dip direction
1	L1	30	15	300
2	L2	170	20	260
3	L3	125	5	215
4	L4	123	15	213
5	L5	15	7	105
6	L6	175	22	265
7	L7	60	5	150
8	L8	160	15	70
9	L9	100	22	-
10	L10	120	10	30
11	L11	R.Soil	-	-
12	L12	R.Soil	-	-
13	L13	155	20	245
14	L14	125	15	35

SN		1	1	,		3	1	1	15		16		18			10	11	3	11	1
							םם		כו			, DA		DΔ	םם		בי			
1	285	85	325	7	275	15	20	20	10	80	225	21	65	17	75	17	30	85	115	52
2	225	75	240	80	175	75	55	50	295	85	195	15	80		42	80	35	86	105	80
3	270	20	215	20	190	75	95	45	350	80	290	85	100	15	125	75	255	35	70	82
4	250	10	230	75	200	70	85	45	290	10	175	18	147	85	75	22	230	32	105	83
5	320	12	225	20	220	65	105	70	335	10	260	16	160	62	112	18	220	38	38	19
6	245	60	225	20	230	30	225	80	335	2	100	75	285	75	22	11	160	20	105	83
7	325	10	255	25	245	45	82	53	330	- 55	260	20	125	88	25	85	120	60	120	34
8	240	40	260	20	230	70	87	50	350	70	320	20	160	90	224	85	250	28	120	30
9	230	65	170	10	235	35	50	28	345	45	240	16	95	31	20	36	265	88	110	34
10	325	10	190	70	230	65	55	70	1	65	205	85	132	70	128	80	250	80	125	90
11	240	40	260	90	235	25	95	35	290	88	290	75	80	76	145	81	250	22	32	88
12	230	65	275	80	310	90	47	85	330	25	340	15	65	15	145	65	116	58	107	82
13	325	10	295	40	200	10	80	55	295	20	280	80	115	90	45	75	230	35	60	85
14	245	40	200	.0	205	15	255	10	345	30	260	80	140	5	135	88	240	25	110	76
15	355	15	305	65	200	25	255		295	15	310	30	150	72	5	72	285	q	120	85
16	270	15	290	60	190	37	85	57	250	30	315	10	70	86	45	78	60	85	120	40
17	265	40	280	15	250	65	85	47	330	15	110	85	65	84	205	72	135	61	85	88
18	285	25	180	65	225	5	160	18	350	70	110	82	106	80	60	75	240	8	98	50
19	240	60	260	20	200	85	195	4	260	35	5	80	104	84	140	76	338	88	130	46
20	280	20	320	85	165	80	235	27	305	15	230	30	95	555	265	88	265	90	85	83
21	230	85	245	85	215	25	55	30	290	88	260	15	151	35	25	60	250	90	160	25
22	310	85	240	5	205	80	115	30	5	75	290	34	103	72	115	38	340	88	88	80
23	340	85	310	87	295	58	15	85	335	55	280	85	290	76	115	88	270	20	125	88
24	355	10	225	15	230	45	80	87	300	10	290	85	143	36	45	85	290	80	130	80
25	330	85	325	87	220	75	65	20	15	35	290	20	108	88	125	85	145	55	105	80
26	225	60	230	75	235	25	65	31	2	20	265	12	125	38	20	46	355	85	58	70
27	310	10	265	75	215	70	165	15	225	40	290	25	158	31	55	15	270	16	115	75
28	200	75	325	5	260	65	45	32	5	30	95	75	155	90	90	88	271	29	125	60
29	245	80	180	85	185	40	60	10	270	88	205	80	102	71	115	75	338	78	120	50
30	295	85	235	75	220	60	70	85	355	80	112	65	280	71	45	77	135	65	90	5
31	230	55	215	85	215	55	35	85	5	35	220	15	155	44	140	80	380	9	120	20
32	320	10	285	10	195	25	30	75	215	60	305	15	130	65	130	88	225	75	80	85
33	245	65	220	75	245	25	110	70	120	50	385	15	157	50	40	80	286	25	82	82
34	220	35	320	10	225	70	250	10	245	55	110	85	110	88	45	75	290	85	40	88
35	210	45	265	85	260	0	75	75	330	65	223	85	70	10	115	20	285	85	45	87
36	310	75	210	75	250	20	35	85	340	35	15	76	150	54	100	80	255	28	330	25
37	5	25	290	70	230	75	120	65	345	45	330	14	210	88	110	21	310	78	355	20
38	215	60	195	90	225	35	55	60	245	65	295	76	145	80	110	80	280	70	17	90
39	245	55	200	85	230	25	220	10	355	20	80	12	48	30	125	4	305	80	335	30
40	220	85	240	10	350	25	50	87	330	45	25	88	145	75	35	79	185	60	125	70
41	285	25	330	75	230	50	60	88	210	90	310	88	130	60	297	7	230	55	75	75
42	305	10	235	35	200	85	25	85	10	15	230	30	105	87	50	75	240	80	90	45
43	315	87	245	65	250	30	50	60	50	25	235	16	187	88	25	35	165	30	205	50
44	265	85	245	70	230	40	20	45	50	27	285	76	105	87	310	75	140	70	130	70
45	230	70	215	10	275	10	5	5	30	28	355	20	60	66	55	64	330	25	130	80
46	295	85	200	12	210	20	130	40	240	90	320	76	110	85	50	75	135	60	120	75
47	300	70	230	50	250	5	80	30	330	85	286	80	90	20	135	67	230	18	110	80
48	245	20	195	15	270	84	55	55	75	10	112	65	98	88	25	55	300	88	135	80
49	165	40	195	20	210	87	130	40	10	90	25	72	42	75	230	82	298	90	130	75
50	210	65	190	70	300	80	25	35	60	20	110	90	110	88	305	76	325	20	125	75
51	245	20					15	10	40	85									85	70
52	250	20					55	25	300	75										
53	310	90					315	85												

Table 19. Measurement of random joint sets

Table 20. RMR, L1

Deal Marca Data				000)					1					-
KOCK IVIASS RATI	ng (KIVIK) S	ystem (Ble	niawski, 1	989)			DESCRIPTION							<u> </u>
							DESCRIPTION	•						
Elevation:							unstrom lof	thank						
R1 STRENGTH			FRIAI				B2 BOCK						,	
Designation		(MPa)		MPa)	Rating		Designation	QUAL	%	Rat	ing	General Condition	, В	ating
Extremely strong	> 250		>10		15	Excellent	quality		90 - 100	20		Completely dry	15	
Very strong	100 - 250		4 to 10		12	Good qua	ality		75 - 90	17		Damp	10	
Strong	50 - 100		2 to 4		7	Fair quali	tv		50 - 75	13		Wet	7	
Medium strong	25 - 50		1 to 2		4	Poor qua	litv		25 - 50	8		Dripping	4	
Weak	5 to 25		<1		2	V. Poor a	uality		< 25	3		Flowing under	0	
V. Weak	1 to 5				1					-				
R3. SPACING OF	DISCONT	UNITIES			_							STRIKE AND DIP OR	ENT/	
		J1	J2	J3	J4	J5	J6		J7	Rat	ing	Discontinuity	Stri	ke/Dip
Verv wide	>2m				-					20	ľ	J1		/ F
Wide	0.6-2m									15		J2		
Moderate	20-60cm									10		J3		
Close	6-20cm									8	9	J4		
										5		J5		
Very close	< 6cm											JG		
R4. CONDITION	OF DISCO	NTINUITY			•	•	•				•	·		
PERSISTENCY	ry close <6cm						J2	J3	J4	J5	J6	Rating		21
Very low	RSISTENCY ry low < 1 m											6		
Low	ry low <1 m v 1-3 m dium 3-10 m											4		
Medium	v 1-3m dium 3-10m											2		
High	dium 3 - 10 m h 10 - 20 m											1		
Very high				> 20 m								0		3.3
SEPERATION (A	PERTURE)													
Very tight joint	s			none								6		
Tight joints	3-1011 h 10-20 m y high >20 m FRATION (APERTURE) y tight joints none ht joints <0.1mm											5		
Moderately ope	h 10 - 20 m y high > 20 m ERATION (APERTURE) y tight joints none nt joints <0.1mm derately open joints 0.1 - 1mm											4		
Open joints				1 - 5 mm								1		
Very wide aper	ture			> 5 mm								0		5
ROUGHNESS											-			
Very Rough Sur	face											6		
Rough												5		
Slightly rough												3		
Smooth rough												1		3.6
Slikenside roug	h											0		
FILLING (GAUG	E)		r					r	1	r			Ĺ	
None									_			6		
Hard filling < 5n	nm											4		
Hard filling > 5n	nm											2		
Soft filling < 5m	m											2		
Soft filling > 5m	m											0		4.6
WALL ROCK OF	DISCONTI	NUITIES	-			1			1	1	1	-		
Unweathered												6		
Slightly Weathe	ered											5		
Moderately												3		
Highly												1		4.2
Decomposed	(DM 4D 51			-		I						0		4.3
TOTAL RATING	KIVIK = R1	+ K2 + R3 +	к4 + R5) : 6	5										
KOCK MASS CLA	ASSES DETE	KIVIINED F		LKATING		Class.	Description	-		C 1		Description		-
<u> </u>	1 100	Rating	í I			Liass	Description	R	ating			Description		-
8	1 - 100						very good rock	21 - 40	21-40	17	poor rock	rock		
	10 60						good rock	≺∠⊥ Rock *		rom total	Ivery poo	IIUUK		
L '	+u - uu						tair rock	KOCK IV	nass class 1	rom total i	aung			

Table 21. RMR, L2

							1							
Rock Mass Rati	ng (RMR) S	ystem (Bie	niawski, 1	989)										
LOCATION							DESCRIPTION							
L2														
Elevation:-							upstream, le	ft						
R1. STRENGTH	OF INTACT	ROCK MAT	ERIAL				R2. RO	CKQUALIT	Y DESIGNA	TION		R5. GROUNDWATER	-	
Designation	UCS	(MPa)	PLI)	MPa)	Rating		Designation		%	Ra	ting	General Condition	Rat	ing
Extremely strong	> 250		>10		15	Excellent	quality		90 - 100	20		Completely dry	15	
Very strong	100 - 250		4 to 10		12	Good qua	lity		75 - 90	1/		Damp	10	
Strong	50 - 100		2 to 4		7	Fair quali	ty		50 - 75	13	-	Wet	/	
Medium strong	25 - 50		1 to 2		4	Poor quai	ity		25 - 50	8	-	Dripping	4	
Weak	5 to 25		<1		2	V. Poor q	uality		< 25	3	-	Flowing under	0	
V. Weak	1 to 5			ļ	1				ļ					
R3. SPACING U	DISCONT		10	12			16		17	D -	Al	STRIKE AND DIP OR	ENTATION	· /Di-
Voruwido	>2m	11	JZ	13	J4	12	10	· ·	17	20 Ka	ting	Discontinuity	Strike	е/ыр
very wide	>2/11 0.6.2m									20		13		
Madarata	0.0-2111 20.60cm									15		J2		
Close	20-000111									01		J3		
0036	0-200111									5		15		
Very close	< 6cm									5	0	15		
R4 CONDITION				ļ	ļ	ļ	Į	ļ		ļ		10		
PERSISTENCY	OI DISCOI					11	12	13	14	15	16	Rating		20
Very low			1	< 1 m		,1	32	33	J 4	,,,		6		20
Low				1-3m								4		
Medium				3 - 10 m								2		
High	ım <u>3 - 10 m</u> 10 - 20 m											1		
Very high	10 - 20 m											0	3	3
SEPERATION (A	PERTURE)			. 2011			1		1			Ŭ	5	
Very tight joint	s		1	none							1	6		
Tight joints	5			< 0.1mm								5		
Moderately op	en ioints			0.1 - 1mm						1		4		
Open joints				1 - 5 mm								1		
Very wide aper	ture			> 5 mm								0	3	.3
ROUGHNESS				-								-	-	
Very Rough Sur	face											6		
Rough												5		
Slightly rough												3		
Smooth rough							1					1		
Slikenside roug	h						1					0		5
FILLING (GAUG	E)													
None												6		
Hard filling < 5r	nm											4		
Hard filling > 5r	nm											2		
Soft filling < 5m	ım											2		
Soft filling > 5m	ım											0	3	.3
WALL ROCK OF	DISCONTIN	NUITIES												
Unweathered												6		
Slightly Weathe	ered											5		
Moderately												3		
Highly												1		
Decomposed												0		5
TOTAL RATING	(RMR = R1	+ R2 + R3 +	R4 + R5) :6	3										
ROCK MASS CL	ASSES DETE	RMINED F	ROM TOTA	LRATING										
		Rating	8			Class	Description	Ra	ting	Class		Description	1	
8	31 - 100					1	Very good rock	21-40		IV	poor rock			
1	61 - 80					II	good rock	<21		v	very poor	rock		
	40 - 60					111	fair rock	Rock Mas	s Class from	m total rati	ing			

Table 22. RMR, L3

Rock Mass Rati	ng (RMR) S	ystem (Bie	niawski, 1	989)										
LOCATION							DESCRIPTION							
L3							_							
Elevation:-							upstream, let	ft						
R1. STRENGTH	OF INTACT	ROCK MAT	ERIAL				R2. RO0	CK QUALIT	Y DESIGNA	TION		R5. GROUNDWATER	2	
Designation	UCS	(MPa)	PLI)	MPa)	Rating		Designation		%	Ra	ting	General Condition	Rat	ting
Extremely strong	> 250		>10		15	Excellent	quality		90 - 100	20		Completely dry	15	
Very strong	100 - 250		4 to 10		12	Good qua	ality		75 - 90	17		Damp	10	
Strong	50 - 100		2 to 4		7	Fair quali	ty		50 - 75	13		Wet	7	
Medium strong	25 - 50		1 to 2		4	Poor qua	lity		25 - 50	8		Dripping	4	
Weak	5 to 25		<1		2	V. Poor q	uality		< 25	3		Flowing under	0	
V. Weak	1 to 5				1									
R3. SPACING O	F DISCONT	UNITIES										STRIKE AND DIP ORI	ENTATION	1
	r	J1	J2	J3	J4	J5	J6	· ·	J7	Ra	ting	Discontinuity	Strik	e/Dip
Very wide	>2m									20		J1		
Wide	0.6-2m									15		J2		
Moderate	20-60cm									10		J3		
Close	6-20cm									8		J4		
Very close										5		J5		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	< 6cm											J6		
R4. CONDITION	OF DISCO	NTINUITY												·
PERSISTENCY			r			J1	J2	J3	J4	J5	J6	Rating		
Very low	ow <1m 1-3m											6		
Low	1 - 3 m ium 3 - 10 m											4		
Medium	ium 3 - 10 m											2		
High	10 - 20 m											1		
Very high				>20 m								0	4	.6
SEPERATION (A	PERTURE)		r					. — —	1					
Very tight joint	S			none								6		
Tight joints				< 0.1mm								5		
Moderately ope	en joints			0.1 - 1mm								4		
Open joints				1 - 5 mm								1		-
Very wide aper	ture			> 5 mm								0		2
ROUGHNESS	<i>c</i>		r –			1	1	1	1	1	1	<i>c</i>		
Very Rough Sur	тасе								-			6		
Rough												5		
Slightly rough												3		
Smooth rough	-											1		2
Slikenside roug	in r)						ļ					U	4	.3
FILLING (GAUG	E)					1	1	1	1	1	1	c		
None												6		
Hard filling > 5	nm								+			4		
Soft filling < 5	m								-			2		
Soft filling > 5m	1111											2	1	2
	DISCONITIN	UNTIFE										U	1	.3
WALL ROCK OF	DISCONTIN	NUTTES				1		1	1	1	1	6		
Clightly Mosth	arad											6		
Mederately	tly Weathered											2		
Highly	rately											3		
Decomposed	nposed					1		1	+	1	1	0		6
TOTAL PATING	bosed ATING (RMR = R1 + R2 + R3 + R4 + R5) :53					I	I	1	1	I	I	U	- 3	.0
BOCK MASS CH	INVIR = RT		N++ + K3/ :5											
NOCK WASS CLA	NJJEJ DETE	Dating		LRAING		Class	Description	Do	ting	Class	1	Docoriation		
-	21 - 100	Rating	ĺ			Lidss	Vopugood at 1	ка 21-40	ung		noor rock	Description		
	61 - 80						very good rock	<21-40 <21	+	V.	Very poor	rock		
	40 - 60						foirmal	Rock Mar	Clace free	n total rati	ing	IUCK		
	40-00						Tairrock	INDER IVIAS	is class if O	n totai rat	ing			

Table 23. RMR, L4

														1
Rock Mass Rati	ng (RMR) S	ystem (Bie	eniawski	i, 1989)										
LOCATION							DESCRIPTION							
L4							unstroom lo	r.						
P1 STRENGTH			EDIAI			1								
Designation		MDa)		(MPa)	Pating		Designation	IN QUALITY	W NESIGINA	Ra Ra	ting	General Condition	Rat	ting
Extromoly strong	> 250	(wir a)	>10	jivir aj	15	Excellent	quality		90 - 100	20		Completely dry	15	1115
Very strong	100 - 250		4 to 10		12	Good qua	lity		75 - 90	17		Damp	10	
Strong	50 - 100		2 to 4		7	Eair quali	tv		50 - 75	13		Wet	7	
Medium strong	25 - 50		1 to 2		4	Poor qual	itv		25 - 50	8		Dripping	4	
Weak	5 to 25		<1		2	V. Poor a	uality		< 25	3		Flowing under	0	
V. Weak	1 to 5				1					-			-	
R3. SPACING O	F DISCONT	UNITIES										STRIKE AND DIP ORI	ENTATION	1
		J1	J2	J3	J4	J5	J6	L	17	Ra	ting	Discontinuity	Strik	e/Dip
Very wide	>2m									20	T .	J1		
Wide	0.6-2m									15		J2		
Moderate	20-60cm									10		J3		
Close	6-20cm									8		J4		
										5		J5		
very close	< 6cm											J6		
R4. CONDITION	OF DISCO	NTINUITY												
PERSISTENCY	Indition of Discontinuity STENCY ow <1 m					J1	J2	J3	J4	J5	J6	Rating		19
Very low	ow <1 m 1 - 3 m 1 m 3 - 10 m											6		
Low	1-3m ium 3-10m											4		
Medium	ium 3 - 10 m 10 - 20 m											2		
High	10 - 20 m											1		
Very high	10 - 20 m y high > 20 m											0	4	.6
SEPERATION (A	PERTURE)							1	1				ļ	
Very tight joint	S			none								6	ļ	
Tight joints				< 0.1mr	n							5	ļ	
Moderately op	en joints			0.1 - 1m	m							4		
Open joints				1 - 5 mr	n							1		
Very wide aper	ture			>5 mm	1							0	3	6
ROUGHNESS	6		1			1			-		1	c		
Very Rough Sur	тасе											6		
Slightly rough												2		
Smooth rough												1		
Slikenside roug	rh											0	5	6
FILLING (GALIG	F)											0		.0
None	-)		1				r				r	6		
Hard filling < 5r	nm											4		
Hard filling > 5r	nm											2		
Soft filling < 5m	ım											2		
Soft filling > 5m	ım											0		2
WALL ROCK OF	DISCONTIN	NUITIES												
Unweathered												6		
Slightly Weathe	ered											5		
Moderately												3		
Highly												1		
Decomposed												0		3
TOTAL RATING	(RMR = R1	+ R2 + R3 +	R4 + R5) :52										
ROCK MASS CL	ASSES DETE	RMINED F	ROM TO	TAL RATIN	IG			-						
		Rating				Class	Description	Ra	ting	Class		Description	n	
8	31 - 100					I	Very good rock	21-40		IV	poor rock			
	61 - 80		L			П	good rock	<21		V	very poo	r rock		
	40 - 60					111	fair rock	Rock Mas	s Class fror	n total rati	ing			

Table 24. RMR, L5

Pock Mass Patin		rtom (Pio	niowski 10	000									1	
LOCATION	IS (KINK) 3	stem (ble	mawski, 15	1051			DESCRIPTION							
15							DESCRIPTION							
Elevation							unstroom righ	.+						
Elevation:-						1	upstream, rigi		DECICNIAT					
Designation					Dating		RZ. RUC	K QUALITT			ting	Conorol Condition	r. Dei	lina
Designation	005	(NPa)		Paj	Rating	5 U. I	Designation		%	ка		General Condition	Rat	ling
Extremely strong	> 250		>10		15	Excellent	quality		90-100	20		Completely dry	15	
Very strong	100 - 250		4 to 10		12	Good qua	ility		75 - 90	1/		Damp	10	
Strong	50 - 100		2 to 4		/	Fair quaii	ty		50 - 75	13		wet	/	
Medium strong	25 - 50		1 to 2		4	Poor qua	lity		25 - 50	8		Dripping	4	
Weak	5 to 25		<1		2	V. Poor q	uality		< 25	3		Flowing under	0	
V. Weak	1 to 5			ļ	1									<u> </u>
R3. SPACING OF	DISCONT	JNITIES							_			STRIKE AND DIP OR	IENTATION	N
		J1	J2	J3	J4	J5	J6		17	Ra	ting	Discontinuity	Strike	e/Dip
Very wide	>2m									20		J1		
Wide	0.6-2m									15		J2		
Moderate	20-60cm									10		J3		
Close	6-20cm									8		J4		
Verv close										5		J5		
,	< 6cm										9	J6		
R4. CONDITION	OF DISCON	ITINUITY				1	1		1		-	•		
PERSISTENCY						J1	J2	J3	J4	J5	J6	Rating		16
Very low				< 1 m								6		
Low				1 - 3 m								4		
Medium			3	3 - 10 m	ı							2		
High			1	0 - 20 r	n							1		
Very high	10 - 20 m igh > 20 m											0	4	.6
SEPERATION (A	PERTURE)													
Very tight joints				none								6		
Tight joints			<	0.1mn	n							5		
Moderately ope	n joints		0.	1 - 1m	m							4		
Open joints			1	- 5 mn	n							1		
Very wide aper	ture		;	> 5 mm	n							0	4	.3
ROUGHNESS														
Very Rough Surf	face											6		
Rough			1						1			5		
Slightly rough			1						1			3		
Smooth rough						1						1		
Slikenside roug	h											0	2	.3
FILLING (GAUG	E)													
None	-											6		
Hard filling < 5m	ım											4		
Hard filling > 5m	ım		1					1		İ	1	2		
Soft filling < 5m	m		1					1		İ	1	2		
Soft filling > 5m	m		1									0	1	.3
WALL ROCK OF	DISCONTIN	UITIES										-		
Unweathered												6		
Slightly Weathe	red											5		
Moderately			1						1		1	3	t	
Highly											1	1	<u> </u>	
Decomposed							1				1	0		3
TOTAL PATING	RMR - P1	- R2 + P2 + I	R4 + P5) •4*	,		I	1	1	I	1				
BOCK MASS CIA	SSES DETE		20M TOTA		NG									
NOCK WASS CLA	USSES DE LE	Pating			NG	Class	Description	Det	ting	Class	<u> </u>	Doccrintia		
	1 100	nating	1			Lidss .	Very activition	21 40			noorrad	Descriptio		
8	1 90		 				very good rock	<pre>21-40</pre>	 	V	VORUNCE	rock		
	10 60		<u> </u>				good rock	Nock Mar	L Class from	l ^v mtotal rati	Ivery poor	IUCK		
4	+0 - 00					111	Tair rock	I NOCK IVIAS	s ciass i foi	n iotai rat	1112			

Table 25. RMR, L6

Rock Mass Rati	ng (RMR) Sy	stem (Bier	niawski, 19	89)		1								
LOCATION	0. / /						DESCRIPTION					·	-	
16														
Elevation:-							axis. left							
R1. STRENGTH	OF INTACT R		RIAL				R2. ROC		DESIGNAT	ION		R5. GROUNDWATER		
Designation		MPa)	PII)N	1Pa)	Rating		Designation		%	Ra	ting	General Condition	Raf	ting
Extremely strong	> 250		>10	I 2,	15	Excellent	quality		90 - 100	20		Completely dry	15	
Very strong	100 - 250		4 to 10		12	Good qua	lity		75 - 90	17		Damp	10	
Strong	50 - 100		2 to 4		7	Fair quali	tv		50 - 75	13		Wet	7	
Mediumstrong	25 - 50		1 to 2		4	Poor qua	lity		25 - 50	8		Drinning	4	
Weak	5 to 25		<1		2	V Poor a	uality		< 25	3		Flowing under	0	
V Weak	1 to 5		1		1	V. 1 001 q	uunty		125	5		riowing under		
R3 SPACING O		NITIES			-							STRIKE AND DIP ORI	ENTATION	
No. of Active o	Discontro	11	12	13	14	15	16	1	17	Ra	tina	Discontinuity	Strik	e/Din
Verywide	>2m	,1	,2	,,,	,4		50			20		11	50110	5/DIP
Wide	0.6-2m							1		15		12		
Moderate	20-60cm									10		13		
Close	6-20cm									8		10		
ciose	0-200111									5		15		
Very close	< 6cm										10	15		
											10	10		
DEPSISTENCY	I OF DISCON	IINOITT				11	12	13	14	15	16	Pating		1
Verylow	ENCY / <1m 1-3m 3-10m					,,,	52	33	,4	,,,	,,,	6		-
Low	v <1m 1-3m 3-10m 10.20m											0		
Modium	<u>1-3m</u> n <u>3-10m</u> 10-20m											4		
High	m 3-10 m 10-20 m											2		
nign Voru bigb	10 - 20 m nigh > 20 m											1	2	2
CEDEDATION (A	10 - 20 m high > 20 m											0	3	.2
SEPERATION (A	PERIORE		1			r –	1	1		1	<u> </u>	c		
Tight joints	.5			10110								5		
Mederately on	on iointo		· · · · ·	1 1 2 2 2								5		
Open joints	enjoints		0	.1-100								4		
Vorunido anos	eturo			L-511111								1		-
very wide aper	lure			> 5 11111								0)
KOUGHNESS	face		1			r –	1	1	1	1	<u> </u>	c		
Pery Kough Su	Idce											6		
KUUgii Slightlu rough												5		
Singhtly rough												5		
Siliootii rougii	~h											1		1
SILKEIISIGE TOUS	311 SE)						1					0		1
Nono	16)									1	1	6		
Hord filling < Fr	m m											0		
Hard filling > 5	mm									1	1	4		
Soft filling < En												2		
Soft filling > En	1111 2m											2	-	c
	DISCONTIN	UTIES										0		. J
Upwoathorod	DISCONTIN	UTTES								1	1	6		
Clightly Woath	arad											5		
Mederately	ereu											5		
Highly											+	3		
Decomposed									1	1	1		4	5
	posed					I	1	1	1		1	U	4	
POCK MASS CI	ACCES DETER	112 T TO T P		DATING										
NOCK WASS CL	AJJEJ DETER	Doting		NATING	,	Class	Description	P-	ting	Class	T	Description		
	91 100	Racing	1				Description	21.40	ung		noorrad	Description	1	
	61 90						very good rock	21-40		V V	VOD/ DOCK	rock		
	40 60						good rock	Noch Maria		n total ratio	Ivery poor	IUCK		
	40-00						Tair rock	NOCK IVIAS	s class if of	n total rat	шg			

Table 26. RMR, L8

Pock Mass Patin		ctom (Pion	iowski 10	90)		1	1	1	1	1	1			
ROCK IVIASS RALIT	g (RIVIR) SY	stem (bler	lidwski, 19	59)			DESCRIPTION							
							DESCRIPTION							
Elevation							downstroom	right						
Elevation:-			DIAL			1	uowiistream,		DESIGNAT					
RI. SIRENGIHO					Dating		RZ. RUC	K QUALITI	DESIGNAT	IUN Pe	tina	K5. GROUNDWATER	Datia	
Designation	> 250	(IVIPa)	>10	viraj	15	Freellant	Designation		70	70 Rd	ung	Completely day	15	ig
Extremely strong	> 250		>10		15	Cood aug	quality		90 - 100 75 00	17		Completely dry	10	_
Strong	100 - 230 E0 100		2 to 4		7	Good qua	111LY +\/		F0 75	17		Wot	7	-
Madium strong	25 50		2 t0 4		1	Poor qual	ity.		25 50	0		Drinning	/	-
Week	23=30 E to 25		110 2		4	V Boorg	uality		23=30	0		Elowing under	4	-
Wedk	1 to E		~1		1	v. F00i q	uanty		×25	3		Flowing under	0	-
		NITIES			1								NTATION	
KS. SPACING OF	DISCONTO	11	12	12	14	15	16	1	17	Pa	ting	Discontinuity	Striko	/Din
Vonuwido	>2m	,11	32	12	J4	12	01		,,	20		Discontinuity	Juike/	Dip
Wido	0.6.2m									20		12		
Moderate	20-60cm									10		13		
Close	6-20cm									8		10		
ciose	0-200111									5		15		
Very close	< 6cm									5	12	16		
R4. CONDITION		TINUITY					ļ	1			12	30		
PERSISTENCY						J1	12	13	J4	J5	J6	Rating		21
Vervlow				< 1 m								6		
low				1-3m								4		
Medium	1 - 3 m lium 3 - 10 m											2		
High	lium 3 - 10 m n 10 - 20 m											1		
Very high				> 20 m								0	3.3	
SEPERATION (AP	ERTURE)													
Very tight joints	,			none								6		
Tight joints				< 0.1mm								5		
Moderately ope	n joints			0.1 - 1mm								4		-
Open joints				1 - 5 mm								1		-
Very wide apert	ure			>5 mm								0	5	
ROUGHNESS														
Very Rough Surf	ace											6		
Rough												5		
Slightly rough												3		
Smooth rough												1		
Slikenside rough	1											0	3.6	
FILLING (GAUGE)													
None												6		
Hard filling < 5m	m											4		
Hard filling > 5m	m											2		-
Soft filling < 5mr	n											2		
Soft filling > 5mr	n											0	5.3	
WALL ROCK OF D	DISCONTIN	UITIES					-							
Unweathered												6		
Slightly Weather	red											5		
Moderately												3		
Highly												1		
Decomposed												0	3.6	
TOTAL RATING (RMR = R1 +	R2 + R3 + F	R4 + R5) :72											
ROCK MASS CLA	SSES DETER	RMINED FR	OM TOTAL	RATING			1				1			
		Rating				Class	Description	Ra	ting	Class		Description		
8	1 - 100						Very good rock	21-40		IV	poor rock			
e	o1 - 80						good rock	<21		v 	very poor	rock		
4	0 - 60						fair rock	Rock Mas	s Class fror	n total rati	ng			

Table 27. RMR, L10

	() -													
Rock Mass Ratin	ng (RMR) Sy	/stem (Biel	niawski, 19	989)			DECONDENCE							
LUCATION							DESCRIPTION							
L1U							and a states							
Elevation:-						1	axis, right							
RI. STRENGTH C					Dating		RZ. RU	.K QUALIT			ting	K5. GROUNDWATER	Datis	
Designation	> 250	(IVIPa)	>10	ivira)	Rating	Eventions	Designation		70 00 100	20		Completely day	15	
Extremely strong	> 250		>10 4 to 10		13	Good gua	quality		75 00	20		Completely dry	15	<u> </u>
Strong	50 - 100		2 to 4		7	Epir quali	tirty		73 - 3 0 50 - 75	17		Wet	7	
Modium strong	25 - 50		1 to 2		,	Poor qual	ity		25 - 50	8		Drinning	,	
Weak	5 to 25				2	V Poor qua	uality		23-30	3		Elowing under	4	
Weak	1 to 5		~1		1	v. F001 q	uanty		×25	3		Flowing under	0	
		INITIES			1							STRIKE AND DID ORIE	NTATION	
No. SI Acinto Ol	Discontre	11	12	13	14	15	16		17	Ra	ting	Discontinuity	Strike/	/Din
Verywide	>2m	,,,	,,_	,,,	,4	,,,		· · · ·		20		11	Surkey	Dip
Wide	0.6-2m									15		12		
Moderate	20-60cm									10		13		
Close	6-20cm									8		14		
close	o Locin									5		15		
Very close	< 6cm									-	5	16		
R4. CONDITION	OF DISCON	ITINUITY									-			
PERSISTENCY						J1	J2	13]4	15	J6	Rating		17
Vervlow				<1m								6		
Low	1-3 m 3-10 m											4		
Medium	1-3m Jium 3-10m											2		
High	lium <u>3 - 10 m</u> n <u>10 - 20 m</u>											1		
Verv high	n 10 - 20 m v high > 20 m											0	3.3	3
SEPERATION (A	PERTURE)													
Very tight joints	, ;			none								6		
Tight joints				< 0.1mm								5		
Moderately ope	en joints			0.1 - 1mm								4		
Open joints				1 - 5 mm								1		
Very wide aper	ture			> 5 mm								0	2	
ROUGHNESS														
Very Rough Sur	face											6		
Rough												5		
Slightly rough												3		
Smooth rough												1		
Slikenside roug	h											0	5	
FILLING (GAUG	E)													
None												6		
Hard filling < 5m	ım											4		
Hard filling > 5m	۱m											2		
Soft filling < 5m	m											2		
Soft filling > 5m	m											0	2.6	;
WALL ROCK OF	DISCONTIN	IUITIES												
Unweathered												6		
Slightly Weathe	red											5		
Moderately												3		
Highly												1		
Decomposed												0	3.6	5
TOTAL RATING	RMR = R1	+ R2 + R3 +	R4 + R5) :3	7										
ROCK MASS CLA	SSES DETE	RMINED FF	ROM TOTA	L RATING										
		Rating	<u>s</u>			Class	Description	Ra	ting	Class		Description		
8	1 - 100					1	Very good rock	21-40		IV	poor rock			
	51 - 80					11	good rock	<21		V	very poor	rock		
4	40 - 60		1			111	fair rock	Rock Mas	s Class fror	n total rati	ing			

Table 28. RMR, L13

D 1 1 1 D 11	(0140) 0			000)										
Rock Mass Rati	ng (RMR) S	ystem (Bie	eniawski, 1	989)			DECONDENC							
LOCATION							DESCRIPTION	N						
L13								1-6						
Elevation:-						1	downstream	i, left						
R1. STRENGTH	JF INTACT	ROCK MAI					R2. RU	CKQUALIT	Y DESIGNA			R5. GROUNDWA		
Designation	UCS	(IVIPa)	PLI)	viPa)	Rating	5 11 1	Designation		%	ка	ting	eneral Conditio	Rat	ing
Extremely strong	> 250		>10		15	Excellent	quality		90 - 100	20		Completely dry	15	
Very strong	100 - 250		4 to 10		12	Good qua	ality		75 - 90	1/		Damp	10	
Strong	50 - 100		2 to 4		/	Fair quali	ty		50 - 75	13		wet	/	
Medium strong	25 - 50		1 to 2		4	Poor qua	lity		25 - 50	8		Dripping	4	
Weak	5 to 25		<1		2	V. Poor q	uality		< 25	3		Flowing under	0	
V. Weak	1 to 5				1									
R3. SPACING O	DISCONT							1	17			STRIKE AND DIP	ORIENTAT	ION
		J1	J2	13	J4	J5	16	-	17	Ra	ting	Discontinuity	Strik	e/Dip
Very wide	>2m						-			20		J1		
Wide	0.6-2m									15		J2		
Moderate	20-60cm									10]3		
Close	6-20cm						-			8		J4		
Very close										5		J5		
	< 6cm										10	J6		
R4. CONDITION	OF DISCO	NTINUITY												
PERSISTENCY	ow <1 m					J1	J2	J3	J4	J5	J6	Rating		19
Very low	low <1m 1-3m											6		
Low	1 - 3 m ium 3 - 10 m											4		
Medium	lium 3 - 10 m						-					2		
High	10 - 20 m											1		-
Very high				> 20 m								0		2
SEPERATION (A	PERTURE)		r							r				
Very tight joint	S			none								6		
Tight joints				<0.1mm								5		
Moderately op	en joints			0.1 - 1mm								4		
Open joints				1-5mm			-					1		_
Very wide aper	ture			>5 mm		ļ						0	4	.3
ROUGHNESS			r							r				
Very Rough Sur	face											6		
Rough												5		
Slightly rough							-					3		
Smooth rough							-					1		_
Slikenside roug	;h					ļ						0		5
FILLING (GAUG	E)		1			1	1			1		-		
None							-					6		
Hard filling < 5r	nm											4		
Hard filling > 5r	nm											2		
Soft filling < 5m	ım											2		_
Soft filling > 5m	ım											0	2	.6
WALL ROCK OF	DISCONTI	NUITIES	-			1				1	-			
Unweathered	<u> </u>											6		
Slightly Weathe	ered											5		
Moderately												3		
Highly												1		
Decomposed				_		I						0		5
TOTAL RATING	(RMR = R1	+ R2 + R3 +	R4 + R5) :6	8										
ROCK MASS CL	ASSES DETE	ERMINED F	ROM TOTA	L RATING		1		1						
		Rating	8			Class	Description	Ra	ting	Class	ļ	Descript	ion	
8	31 - 100					1	Very good rock	21-40		IV	poor rock			
	61 - 80					I	good rock	<21		V	very poor	rock		
· · · ·	40 - 60						fair rock	Rock Mas	s Class fror	n total rati	ng			

Table 29. RMR, L14

D	(0140) 0			00)								1			
Rock Mass Ratin	g (RIVIR) Sy	stem (Bien	nawski, 19	89)											
LOCATION	DESCRIPTION														
L14															
Elevation:-															
R1. STRENGTH O	R2. ROCK QUALITY DESIGNATION					R5. GROUNDWATER									
Designation	tion UCS (MPa)		PLI JMPa)		Rating	Designation			%	Rati	ng	General Condition	R	lating	
Extremely strong	> 250		>10		15	Excellent	quality		90 - 100	20		Completely dry	15		
Very strong	g 100 - 250		4 to 10		12				/5 - 90	1/		Damp	10		
Strong	g 50-100		1 to 2		Paor quality		50 - 75	13		Wet	7				
Medium strong	um strong 25 - 50			1102 4			lity		25 - 50	8		Dripping	4		
Weak	/eak 51025				2	V. Poor q	uality	< 25		3		Flowing under	0		
V. Weak	1 to 5				1								L	L	
R3. SPACING OF	DISCONTU	INITIES							-			STRIKE AND DIP OR	ENTAT		
		J1	J2	13	J4	15	J6		17	Rati	ng I	Discontinuity	Str	ike/Dip	
Very wide	>2m									20		J1			
Wide	0.6-2m									15		J2			
Moderate	20-60cm									10]3			
Close	6-20cm									8		J4			
Very close										5		J5			
	< 6cm										8	J6	L		
R4. CONDITION C	JF DISCON	TINUITY												24	
PERSISTENCY			1			J1	J2	13	J4	J5	16	Rating		21	
Verylow			<1m									6			
LOW			1-3m									4			
Medium			3 - 10 m									2			
Hign			10-20 m									1			
Very high			> 20 m									0		4	
SEPERATION (AP	ERTURE)		1			1	1	r	r		-				
Very tight joints			none									6			
Tight joints			< 0.1mm									5			
Moderately open joints			0.1 - 1mm									4			
Open joints			1-5mm									1			
very wide aperture			> 5 mm									0		4	
ROUGHNESS			1			1	1	r –	r –		r –	ć			
Very Rough Surface												6			
Rough												5			
Slightly rough												3			
Smooth rough												1		-	
Slikenside rough										0		5			
FILLING (GAUGE)		1			1	1	r	r			C			
None Hard filling < Em										6					
Hard filling > Emm												4			
Hard filling < Emm												2			
Soft filling > Emm												2		4	
					ļ					U		4			
WALL ROCK OF L	JISCONTIN	UTTES				1						C			
Cliebtly Masthered										6					
Mederately												5			
Highly									<u> </u>			3			
												1		4	
TOTAL BATING (BMB - B1 + B2 + B3 + B4 + B5) -56							I	I	I			U		4	
BOCK MASS CIT	NIVIK = K1 +		4 + K5J :50	DATING											
ROCK WASS CLA	DOED DETER			RATING		CI	Deseriette	escription Bating Class				Description			
81 100 Rating						Class	Description	Ka1	ung		Description				
61 90						very good rock	21-40		17	poor rock					
01-10							good rock	SZ1		<u>v</u>	very p	UUTTUCK			
4	W - 60						fair rock	KOCK Mas	s class fror	n total rati					

APPENDIX II PLATES





Plate 1: Microfold of gneiss band in a boulder

Plate 2: Downstream section of the study area, from the right bank



Plate 3: Upstream section of the study area, from the right bank



Plate 4: Top of the left abutment of the dam axis



Plate 5: Fresh gneiss, at the left bank, dam axis

Plate 6: Top of the right abutment, across (top left hilltop)



Plate 7: Left section of the study area, from the right abutment



Plate 8: Rock boulders for the embankment construction